Hamline University

DigitalCommons@Hamline

School of Education and Leadership Student **Capstone Projects**

School of Education and Leadership

Fall 2018

Using Self-Regulated Strategy Development To Teach Middle **School Writing**

Julia Breen Hamline University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Breen, Julia, "Using Self-Regulated Strategy Development To Teach Middle School Writing" (2018). School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects. 234.

https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp/234

This Capstone Project is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Education and Leadership at DigitalCommons@Hamline. It has been accepted for inclusion in School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@Hamline. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@hamline.edu.

USING SELF-REGULATED STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT TO TEACH MIDDLE SCHOOL WRITING

by

Julia Breen

A final paper submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Teaching

Hamline University

Saint Paul, Minnesota

December, 2018

Capstone Project Facilitator: Kelly Killorn-Moravec

Context Expert: Danielle Tarnutzer

Abstract

Breen, J. Using Self-Regulated Strategy Development to Teach Middle School Writing. (2018) Being able to write well is a skill critical to students' success in higher education. Yet standardized test scores reveal that many students are moving into high school and college without these writing skills. Writing is a complex task; in addition to content knowledge, students must use self-regulation skills (including staying focused on the task, working through frustrations) to see success. This capstone project sought to answer the question: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* The result is a series of lesson plans that seek to meet the academic, social, and emotional needs of middle school students by combining academic instruction with the teaching and practice of self-regulation skills.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAP	HAPTER ONE: Fundamental Question	
	Introduction	6
	Personal and Professional Story	10
	Statement of Purpose	12
	Summary	13
СНАР	PTER TWO: Review of Research Literature	14
	Overview of Chapter Two	14
	Postsecondary Writing	16
	Writing Achievement Trends	18
	Teaching Recommended for Middle School Students	19
	The Adolescent Brain	21
	Social and Emotional Needs	24
	Self-Regulated Strategy Development	27
	SRSD Research and Case Studies	32
	Summary	38
СНАР	PTER THREE: Using SRSD to Create Middle School Writing Lessons	40
	Project Overview	40
	Setting for Capstone Project	42
	Target Audience	43

Project Description	43
Curriculum Framework	49
Assessment	49
Timeline	52
Summary	52
CHAPTER FOUR: Reflection	
Introduction	54
Key Understandings from Literature Review	54
Project Review	56
Project Limitations	56
Project Implications	58
Summary	59
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: Scope and Sequence of Lesson Plans	
APPENDIX B: Lesson Plans and Supporting Documents	
APPENDIX C: Assessment Rubric	
APPENDIX D: Writing Skills Survey	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Scope and Sequence of Lesson Plans

66

CHAPTER ONE

Fundamental Question

Introduction

As a 7th grade English teacher, my practice revolves around finding strategies I can use to increase the reading, writing, and discussion skills of my students. For the past several years, my district has focused on individualized reading growth. By focusing on reading growth, though, my colleagues and I have noticed that our emphasis on other aspects of English, mainly writing, has been neglected. Many of my students have difficulty expressing themselves in clear and coherent ways. They also struggle with sustaining the mental focus required for creating a quality writing product. Given my students' difficult expressing themselves in writing, my capstone question became: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* It is important to me that I find new ways of supporting my seventh grade students in becoming competent writers rather than struggling writers.

When students struggle with writing, it does not just impact their success in the English classroom. Writing skills play a part in many content areas, particularly social studies and science. In addition, writing ability is continually cited by high schools and colleges, nationwide, as a skill critical for success in higher education (Conley, 2007). I was recently having a conversation with an administrator at my school, a very accomplished man who is now in pursuit of his doctorate. He told me that a professor once advised him not to pursue a master's degree

because of his struggle with writing. Thankfully, he did not listen, and he continued working toward that higher degree. The example does illustrate, however, the importance of writing in higher education conversations.

In my classroom, I have noticed that writing tends to be a challenging task for many struggling, at-risk students. This includes the many students I teach who have disabilities. While these students may excel in discussions, many of them flounder when asked to complete a writing assignment. The writing process requires patience and attention to task, areas in which many students with disabilities struggle. Certainly, many students without academic disabilities have difficulty with the process as well. Hyperactivity, behavioral issues, and a decreased ability to sustain focus, however, certainly do not lend themselves to the independent, mentally-taxing, lengthy work that writing a quality piece tends to require.

When time after time they find themselves unsuccessful, the students I teach often begin to develop a negative association with writing, which makes the task all the more difficult. For example, I often begin my lessons with fun, creative writing responses. Students are asked to write for the full amount of time given (usually about three minutes). One prompt I used this past year was, "Imagine you were trapped in your favorite store overnight. What would you do?" A confident writer might take a few seconds to think, then begin writing. She may stop periodically to consider her next words, but her pencil would, in general, keep moving. At the end of the three minutes, she'd have a few descriptive sentences describing a fun night in her favorite store.

On the other hand, a struggling writer might begin by peppering me with questions about this prompt. "What? What am I supposed to write? I don't know what store is my favorite. What do you mean what would I do?" She's so uncertain, so convinced of the mistakes she will make,

she wants the answer spoon-fed to her. The hardest students, the ones I worry about most, are the students who hear this fun, non-graded prompt, and yet they refuse to pick up a pencil.

Sometimes this refusal stems from defiance. But often, it seems this defiance is the result of years of struggle, resulting in a student's unwillingness to even try.

Research (Harris, Graham, Mason, & Friedlander, 2008) has demonstrated that teaching students specific strategies for working through academic difficulties can be a successful way to help them become better writers. For example, students might be taught to pause when completing a challenging assignment, take a deep breath, and think "Wait. I learned this. What's the next step in the strategy? That's right..." Robinson's (2017) research into the adolescent brain supported the practice and explicit teaching of this type of metacognitive thinking. Just like most academic tasks, middle school students differ in their ability to tackle this kind of metacognitive thinking (Robinson, 2017), but, excitingly for middle school teachers, research (Crone, as cited by Robinsons, 2017) has demonstrated that struggling students can be taught successfully to strengthen these skills.

Many times, these struggling students are the ones most in need of the voice the written word provides. At the start of my writing unit, every year, I ask students why it is important to write well. Their typical answers include high school, college, job searches, resumes, emails, etc. It usually falls to me to point out, though, what I think is the most important reason: writing gives individuals power. It gives us a voice in our society. It gives us the ability to write to our legislators, to communicate messages of inequality or discrimination, to organize behind causes we believe in.

Is it possible to be successful in our society without being able to write well? Certainly. But being able to write well, clearly and persuasively, increases the probability that someone out there will listen. The underserved, impoverished, and all too often, silent members of our community, who tend to also be our most at-risk students, are the very students most in need of having a voice (Christensen, 2000). As Linda Christensen (2000), noted author and teacher wrote, "People who lack reading and writing skills have difficulty expressing who they are. Their words are strangled and they learn to be silent" (p. VI). Giving students the tools to access their written voice helps combat that silence.

After noticing the pattern of struggle and disillusionment with writing in my classroom, I sought to find strategies for writing instruction that have been successful with young writers. This led to self-regulated strategy development, or SRSD. According to Harris, Graham, Mason, and Friedlander (2008), self-regulated strategy development combines specific instructional stages with an emphasis on self-efficacy, thereby attempting to meet both the academic and social/emotional demands of the writing process. My research question then became: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* Based on my research, I developed a series of lessons that uses SRSD to teach expository writing to students. The goal of my lessons was to both strengthen students' writing skills, as well as increase their positive personal associations with the writing process. As I began this process of inquiry and discovery, it was necessary to reflect on my own educational path and experiences, to place myself, as the researcher, in the context of my study. Following my professional and personal experiences is a statement of purpose. This focuses my project, and makes the project's goal and intention clear. Finally, the

chapter ends with summary highlighting the most important sections, before continuing into Chapter Two.

Personal and Professional Story

My intention was not always to be a teacher. Instead, in 2013, I graduated with a bachelor's degree in English. During the 2013-2014 school year, I worked for the Reading Corps. This position enabled me to continue my studies while also placing me in a school setting. After many short term experiences in schools (volunteer mentoring, shadowing, etc.), working as a Reading Corps tutor allowed me to see the ins and outs of how a school functions. This job allowed me to develop working relationships with other teachers, administrators, and reading experts, as well as collaborate with these other professionals about the best interests of the students.

During my Reading Corps experience, my day began with my morning duty--greeting students and passing out breakfast--and ended with an after school creative writing class I developed and taught. I highly enjoyed becoming involved in the school community in this way. My job as a tutor, though, was limited. Reading tutors were given scripts and deliberate instructions, and I felt unable to bring my own thoughts, experiences, and ideas into the structure. I was eager for the chance to bring my own ideas to my own classroom.

In the fall of 2014, while pursuing my teaching license, I worked as an assistant teacher at a Montessori preschool. The Montessori method emphasizes the role of the teacher as a facilitator, and it was fascinating and highly educational to be part of system that values student creativity and independence to that degree (Montessori, 1964). Again, I loved the experience of collaboration within the school community. Again, this experience made me eager to have my

own classroom, where I could take my insights from these positions and create my own class community.

In 2015, I became a 7th grade English teacher at a public middle school, a position I have maintained for the last three years. In this position, I teach sections of Honors English, for students who have elected to be part of a more rigorous learning community; Regular English, for students who, theoretically, are at grade level; Co-taught English, a blend of regular education and special education students (students with learning disabilities, emotional behavior disorders, and/or autism spectrum disorder), co-taught with a 7th grade special education teacher; and Extended English, a reading instruction class designed for non-special education/non-English learner students who tested below grade level on standardized assessments. Next year, the special education department at my school is reshaping their curriculum. This means that I will likely no longer be co-teaching with a special education teacher but will still have special education students in my classes. My special education students will be more spread out into the various sections of Regular English, instead of grouped together in the co-taught classes.

This change has been a part of my desire to pursue this research direction. Even while using the co-teaching model, I felt that my partner and I did not not adequately meet the needs of our struggling students, many of whom were in special education. Special education students are deliberately given an individualized education plan (IEP) that is meant to allow them success in the general education classroom. Even with those plans in place, however, many students at my middle school, both SpED and non-SpED students, are failing one or more class(es). An inability to write effectively, as demonstrated on our standardized reading/language usage scores, seems

to be a part of that problem. In upcoming years, I know I will continue to have struggling students in my classes. Without the support of a co-teacher, it will be more important than ever to have strategies that target the improvement of students below grade level, strategies that also benefit all students. The following section details the focus of my capstone project in my statement of purpose.

Statement of Purpose

The purpose of this capstone was to develop a series of lessons that used self-regulated strategy development (Harris, et al., 2008) to teach expository writing to struggling middle school students. As stated before, writing is a skill that, while taught primarily in English class, crosses into multiple content areas. The ability to write well is critical to success in higher education as well as, arguably, success in most careers. It is crucial, then, that as educators we create students who are willing and able to tackle writing tasks put before them.

To support the development of willing and able student writers, I created a series of lessons that follow the six stages of SRSD: develop background knowledge, discuss it, model it, memorize it, support it, and independent performance (Harris, et al., 2008). SRSD recognizes that the writing process is not solely academic; many students disengage from the writing process not because they do not know how to conquer the writing task, but rather because they feel unable to engage in the repetitive, often frustrating cycle of drafting, editing, and revising (Harris, et al., 2008). Therefore, the lessons sought to encourage at-risk students to believe that they are capable of the tasks and stamina necessary for success in the writing process.

These lessons may prove beneficial for other English teachers as well. Based on my experience as a teacher, many students are arriving in our classrooms with skills below grade

level in writing and reading. Unfortunately, the number of students who arrive unprepared is not falling; instead, that number seems to be rising from year to year. As general education teachers, we need strategies that allow us to work with and help these students that are falling behind, without sacrificing the learning of students who are at grade level. I believe that many teachers of writing, from elementary to high school, would benefit from understanding these strategies to help their underachieving students.

Summary

Until that first day of school, I do not know the learners that will walk into my classroom. I do know that every year my classroom will be filled with individuals of differing personalities, learning strengths, and learning difficulties. As a teacher, I must be equipped to greet each one of them as they walk through my doors, and be ready to help them grow as learners and individuals.

The ability to write well is a skill that will serve students throughout their secondary and postsecondary educational paths. Although middle school students have a few years before that transition to college, middle school instruction plays an important role in readying students for that eventual success. Being college ready means being able to write well (Conley, 2007). Self-regulated strategy development (Harris, et al., 2008) is an instructional program that has been found to have success with struggling students (What Works Clearinghouse, 2017). Because of this, I sought to answer the question, *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* The remainder of this capstone strives to answer this question through research and reflection. Chapter Two details a literature review of experts who have also explored this topic. Chapter

Three contains a description of the lessons I have developed. Finally, Chapter Four is a reflection of my research and experience.

CHAPTER TWO

Review of the Research Literature

Overview of Chapter Two

This chapter analyzed research regarding writing strategies that has shown positive outcomes for student growth in an attempt to answer the question: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?*

This literature review began by discussing the relevance of writing skills in conversations about higher education, particularly focusing on the writing skills needed for success at the high school and college levels. Since the focus of this capstone was expository writing, a definition and examples of expository writing are provided. The nation's current trend with writing skills is examined by analyzing standardized testing scores. Finally, research has shown that writing is difficult for students with learning disabilities, and some experts have analyzed the specifics of this challenge.

The next section of the literature review explored the unique learning characteristics of the average middle school student. The intention of this project was to create lessons that best address the academic, social, and emotional needs of the average middle school student.

Common Core curriculum has been adopted by the majority of the United States, so it is important to look to those writing standards to see the expectations for writing instruction and skills at the middle school level (The NGA Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO), 2010). Based on the cognitive strengths and

weaknesses of the average middle school student (for example, middle schoolers are often very motivated by rewards), adolescent brain researchers suggested teaching strategies that are thought to engage students best (Robinson, 2017). Finally, middle school students have certain developmental needs, and a successful teacher finds ways to meet these needs in the classroom (Wormeli, 2014). Teachers can better meet the social and emotional needs of students in the classroom by creating lessons that utilize developmentally-mindful strategies.

The final part of this literature review focused on the primary writing strategy used in this project: self-regulated strategy development, or SRSD (Harris, Graham, Mason, & Friedlander, 2008). First, SRSD and its development are described. The description looked in depth at the combination of deliberate academic structure and self-regulation skills, and how the two interact in the lessons presented by the developers. The next part of the section analyzed the various case studies of researchers who have utilized self-regulated strategy development to teach writing skills. Researchers have studied the use of SRSD with different types of students, including its use in both the general education classroom, as well as the special education classroom.

This chapter provided an overview of the literature on writing instruction for middle school students. This research informed this capstone project, which served to answer the question: How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students? This review of literature was particularly focused on strategies that show growth for special education students, but that have also been shown to be beneficial for whole group instruction, so as to understand the benefits and limitations of the strategy's use in the general education classroom. To answer this question fully, and to develop a capstone project that considered the experts who have explored similar

questions, this capstone explored the importance of writing skills in today's world, the academic, social, and emotional needs of middle school students, and case studies that have utilized self-regulated strategy development.

Postsecondary Writing

It is impossible to overstate the importance of writing skills in conversations about higher education. In middle and high school, students might be accustomed to writing primarily in their English classes. In contrast, Conley (2007) wrote that in college students can expect to be writing in nearly every academic course. In particular, college students frequently use skills relating to descriptive, expository, and persuasive writing (Conley, 2007).

This capstone led to the creation of lessons designed to teach expository writing. Expository writing asks students to "investigate an idea, evaluate evidence, expound on the idea, and set forth an argument concerning that idea in a clear and concise manner. This can be accomplished through comparison and contrast, definition, example, the analysis of cause and effect, etc" (The Writing Lab, 2018, para 1). Many standardized writing assessments include an expository writing component. The Learning Express Writing Team (2003) gave several example expository essay prompts:

Describe a family celebration that has special meaning for you.

Math is a required subject. Explain why it is so important.

Discuss the causes of and problems resulting from teenage smoking.

Describe how communication has changed in the past 20 years.

Explain the meaning of diversity. (pp. 52-53)

Conley (2007) also noted that students must also be able to independently navigate the writing process-- drafting, editing, and revising-- on their own to create a polished final product. The skills identified by Conley (2007) are important in college courses, as it becomes more important than ever for students to be able to adequately summarize, analyze, and synthesize complex information.

The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) (2017) highlighted that not every high school graduate is ready for the challenge of postsecondary education. According to the NCES (2017), only 59% of students who entered a four year degree program in 2009 completed that degree within six years, by 2015. This means that 41% of students entering in 2009 are not graduating with a degree six years later. These statistics indicate a large number of students are either dropping out of college or taking many years to complete a degree.

Certainly, students may drop out of college for many reasons. Financial constraints, personal challenges, and other factors may all stand in the way of a student's collegiate success. However, it is likely that some students may be dropping out because they lack the skills to succeed in postsecondary school. One way that universities have sought to help students who attend college without the essential skills they need for success is through remedial classes. These remedial classes were most commonly offered in reading, mathematics, and writing, and they are designed to help students sharpen their skills in these content areas (Center for Community College Student Engagement, as cited in Schak, Metzger, Bass, McCann, & English, 2017).

In the 2011-2012 academic school year, about one-third of first year undergraduates in the United States reported taking at least one remedial course, and for community college

students, the number was even higher at forty percent (U.S. Department of Education, as cited in Schak et al., 2017). Looking closer, among 2003-2004 postsecondary students who enrolled at a two year institution, 28% of total students enrolled took a remedial reading/writing class; in that same year, 11% of total students enrolled at four year institutions took a remedial reading/writing course (NCES, as cited in Schak et al., 2017). These statistics demonstrated that a good number of our high school students are beginning college without the writing skills college professors deem necessary for success.

Amongst the research community, there is much debate about the effectiveness of remedial coursework. Often, students are placed in remedial classes on the basis of a single assessment (Schak et al., 2017). Some researchers believe colleges are over-placing students in these remedial courses, particularly since criteria for entrance into remedial courses can vary from college to college (Hassel & Giordano, 2015).

Additionally, remedial courses are costly. According to data obtained by New America, college students and families paid approximately \$1.3 billion in annual out-of-pocket costs for remediation courses (Schak et al., 2017). Remedial courses also often require students to spend more time paying college tuition to complete a degree. Ensuring that our students are well prepared for the writing demands of college, and therefore do not need these remediation classes, seems by far the better option. This capstone project will seek to strengthen writing skills in the middle school classroom, placing students on a path to becoming more confident, more skilled collegiate level writers.

Writing Achievement Trends

One way national experts access the writing skills of our nation's students is through standardized testing. In 2007 and 2011, 8th grade students nationwide took a writing assessment. For this assessment, students were asked to use their writing skills to persuade, to explain, and to convey experience (real and imagined) (NAEP, 2012). Students were scored on their development and organization of ideas, as well as their language facility and conventions (NAEP, 2012). In 2007, 70% of eighth grade students tested as less than proficient on this assessment (NAEP, 2008). Unfortunately, that number is continuing to grow. In 2011, 74% of eighth grade students tested as less than proficient on the same assessment (NAEP, 2012). The results of the latest assessment, taken in 2017, will be published in late 2018 (NAEP, 2017).

The picture is even bleaker for students who report having a disability. In 2007, only 6% of students with disabilities achieved a score at or above proficient (NAEP, 2008). More than half of these students were given accommodations on the writing test (NAEP, 2008). In 2011, only 5% of students with disabilities achieved a score at or above proficient (NAEP, 2012).

Standardized tests only reveal so much. Many teachers acknowledge that these tests are given in isolation, and they often do not illustrate the individual growth teachers see on a day to day basis. Many other factors also influence these scores, including student motivation, student compliance with taking the test, and student state of mind the day of the test. Perhaps one way to improve these scores may be by creating lessons that appeal to the developmental needs of adolescent students. This topic will be explored in the next section.

Teaching Recommended for Middle School Students

This capstone project was mindful of teaching practices that best meet the academic, social, and emotional needs of middle school students. This section of the review begins by

exploring the writing standards embedded in the common core curriculum, which has been adopted by the majority of the United States (The NGA Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO), 2010). It then describes the particular challenges of adolescence, and how those impact the classroom. Adolescence is a unique time in a person's life, and a successful teacher navigates and utilizes a middle schooler's strengths and weaknesses, rather than battling against these proclivities.

The NGA Center/CCSSO (2010) noted that the Common Core State Standards were first developed in 2009 in an effort to make educational practices more consistent and universal across the United States. The majority of the states have adopted these standards. The common core standards differ from previous standards in that they suggest that the practice of literacy and writing skills are the responsibility of all content areas, not simply English. Thus, the common core includes literacy standards for social studies, science, and technical areas. That being said, there are specific writing standards for each grade, kindergarten through twelfth, and the standards progress in complexity as you move up the grade levels. Since this capstone is created for seventh grade students, those standards were the focus of analysis. Most grade level standards, though, loosely correlate to the seventh grade ones, again, varying in complexity depending on the grade level. There are ten seventh grade writing standards (The NGA Center/CCSSO, 2010).

Analysis of the standards reveals four major groupings. First, students should be asked to complete different types of writing tasks, including argumentative, expository, and narrative forms. The organization of their written work should correspond to the type of writing task they have been asked to perform. Second, students should complete various writing assignments that

follow the writing process, including revising and editing their work. Third, students should be asked to gather research to support their ideas. Finally, students should be asked to write in a variety of different circumstances, for lengthy time periods and short time periods, and for different tasks, purposes, and audiences (The NGA Center/CCSSO, 2010).

These lessons created in this capstone project address the following standard:

CCSS.ELA-LITERACY.W.7.2 Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content (The NGA Center/CCSSO, 2010, English Language Arts Standards, Writing, Grade 7, Text Types and Purposes, CCSS.ELA-LITERACY.W.7.2).

This standard includes several benchmarks, which were also addressed by the capstone project. These benchmarks include the ability to introduce and organize ideas clearly. Students should support their topic with relevant details and examples. They should use language and style appropriate for the task and topic, as well as transitions that allow the writing to flow from idea to idea. Finally, students should provide a conclusion that resolves the writing and is appropriate based on the topic (The NGA Center/CCSSO, 2010, English Language Arts Standards, Writing, Grade 7, Text Types and Purposes, CCSS.ELA-LITERACY.W.7.2).

This standard set the groundwork for this capstone project by establishing the content and reasoning behind the skills included in the lesson plans. The next section contains a review of the research that explores the best means of teaching these skills to middle school students.

The Adolescent Brain

The adolescent brain is different from the adult brain, and a successful middle school teacher understands and appreciates these differences. In fact, among one of its sixteen

characteristics of an effective middle school, the National Middle School Association (NMSA) included leaders who "are committed to and knowledgeable about this age group, educational research, and best practices" (Lounsbury, 2010, p. 44).

Robinson (2017) explored the adolescent brain with interesting findings. Her study found that students learn best when placed in situations where they experience the following: interdisciplinary teaching, service learning opportunities, healthy competition, controversial topics, metacognitive skills, and social learning.

Robinson (2017) found that students learn best when they experience interdisciplinary teaching; interdisciplinary teaching involves teaching the same concept in different ways, in different class contexts. This is essential for middle school students, for as Robinson (2017) described:

... adolescent brains' developing tendency to rearrange and prune information means that a simple concept heard once, in a single class, may be quickly forgotten, but, those ideas and skills that they hear and use in many contexts are likely to become part of their long term understanding. (p. 31)

This science supports the Common Core's approach to literacy and writing standards, which, as stated previously, require that these skills become the responsibility of all classroom teachers, not simply English teachers.

Like most adults, adolescents want the information they are learning to be relevant to their life experience (Robinson, 2017). Middle school teachers should take caution, though.

Amongst his 12 top demotivators for middle school students, Wormeli (2014) included "being told how important today's lesson will be in high school and beyond. (Instead, help kids live this

one week of their lives powerfully)" (p. 30). The more relevant a teacher can make content to an adolescent's current life stage, the more successful. Robinson (2017) suggested service learning opportunities as a means of increasing the immediacy of this relevance for middle school students. Service learning experiences allow for students to witness and fulfill pressing needs in a community; relevance becomes obvious.

Robinson (2017) also found that adolescents benefit from healthy competition, social learning, and controversial topics. These three concepts often intertwine. The sense of satisfaction and pride that comes from winning a competition is very rewarding. Adolescent brains, in comparison with other age groups, are very sensitive to reward stimuli (Albert & Steinberg, 2011). The reward motivation is compounded when it is linked with social stimuli (Crone, as cited in Robinson, 2017). In fact, adolescent brain research has shown that "stimuli that seem to elicit the strongest response are social stimuli" (Robinson, 2017, p. 34).

Additionally, adolescents are also often drawn to controversial topics, as their own thoughts and beliefs begin to take shape and potentially differ from those of their parents (Robinson, 2017).

Based on this research, learning activities that include group work, partner work, students teaching other students, competitive review games, debate, and group discussions are likely to be highly motivational for middle school students.

Finally, Robinson's (2017) research revealed that adolescents benefit from lessons that train their metacognitive thinking. For Robinson (2017), these metacognitive thinking skills include the development of "strengthened response inhibition, enhanced ability to shift within and between tasks, and more efficient updating and altering of their working memory during a cognitive task" (Blakemore & Robbins, as cited in Robinson, 2017, p. 33). She also found that

students differ in their ability to tackle this metacognitive thinking (Robinson, 2017), and, notably, students that struggle with these type of thinking can be taught to strengthen these skills (Crone, as cited in Robinson, 2017). These findings are exciting for teachers of self-regulated strategy development, which will be featured in this capstone project, as they suggest that explicitly teaching self-regulation skills to students (for example, teaching a student who gets frustrated easily to take a deep breath and reset) can be beneficial and successful. Teachers can help struggling students develop these complex thinking skills by making metacognition a priority in the classroom through teacher modeling, discussion, and practice (Joseph, 2010). Quality teaching reflects knowledge of the students as a full person, complete with social and emotional complexities, so in addition to the academic and cognitive considerations mentioned, the lessons included in this capstone support the social and emotional needs of middle school students, explored in the next section.

Social and Emotional Needs of Middle School Students

Academics do not occur in a vacuum. Students may be placed in the classroom to learn academics, but they bring with them a complex web of social relationships and emotional concerns, many of which play a role in their classroom experience. For many students, relationship plays a key role in their willingness to work in the classroom, and knowledge of the social and emotional needs of adolescents helps teachers establish that connection.

Roeser, Eccles, and Sameroff (2000) recognized the elevated status of social and emotional concerns in an adolescent's life, detailing:

The challenge for middle school teachers is really not a question of getting students motivated or not but rather, in part, getting them to be motivated to learn rather than

motivated to protect themselves from situations they perceive as threatening to their self, meaningless, or somehow threatening to their social image. (p. 454)

For this reason, the lessons created for this capstone project considered not only how to make the content academically purposeful and engaging, but also how the content can appeal to the social and emotional needs of middle school students.

The Collaborative for Academic, Social and Emotional Learning (CASEL) (2018) defined social and emotional learning as:

... the process through which children and adults acquire and effectively apply the knowledge, attitudes, and skills necessary to understand and manage emotions, set and achieve positive goals, feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain positive relationships, and make responsible decisions. (para 1)

Social and emotional learning (SEL) recognizes that schools are responsible for embracing and teaching the whole student, not focusing solely on academic content. According to CASEL (2018), schools can, and should, help students gain the important skills and behaviors critical for success as a healthy adult. These types of skills and behaviors might include learning and practicing identifying emotions and emotional responses, impulse control, empathy, self-motivation, and many more (CASEL, 2018). In broad terms, CASEL divided social and emotional learning into five major categories: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationships skills, and responsible decision-making.

SEL has been widely supported by the research community. Durlak, Weissberg,
Dymnicki, Taylor, and Schellinger (2011) conducted a meta-analysis of 213 SEL programs for
ages kindergarten through twelfth grade. Their study revealed that students who were part of

SEL programs exhibited more positive behaviors and attitudes than their peers who were not part of SEL programs. Interestingly, she also found that students in SEL programs made significant academic growth (Durlak et al., 2011).

SEL programs have also been found to be economically beneficial for our society (Belfield, Bowden, Klapp, Levin, Shand, & Zander, 2015). To determine economic benefits Belfield et al. (2015) used benefit-cost analysis to analyze six common social and emotional interventions. The financial benefits of SEL instruction were based on many different factors including the cost of teenage bullying, substance abuse, crime, pregnancy, etc. They found that, for all six interventions, benefits exceeded the cost, sometimes by a considerable amount.

For example, Belfield et al. (2015) analyzed the social emotional intervention called "Positive Action," which emphasizes "school curriculum/activities to promote positive thinking, actions, and self-concept" (p. 5). They found that the cost of Positive Action was \$53,000 and the benefit was \$130,000, placing the net value of the intervention at \$77,000 (p. 5). These numbers make a strong case for the inclusion of SEL programming in our schools and curriculum.

The National Middle School Association (NMSA) recognized the high need for SEL informed teaching. The NMSA included three major categories in its list of defining characteristics of successful middle schools: curriculum instruction and assessment, leadership and organization, and culture and community (Lounsbury, 2010). This third category, culture and community, focuses on social and emotional learning, with characteristics such as "the school environment is inviting, safe, inclusive and supportive of all," as well as "every student's academic and personal development is guided by an adult advocate" (Lounsbury, 2010, p. 44). Research supported the idea that social, emotional, and academics are linked, as students who

consider themselves academically competent are likely to be more successful academically and exhibit positive school behaviors; similarly, emotional distress has been found to be a predictor of increased school negative behavior (Roeser et al., 2000).

Wormeli (2014) suggested teaching strategies that recognize a middle school student's developmental needs. Teachers should strive to do the following:

- Incorporate social interaction into any engagement with content
- Switch activities every 10 to 15 minutes to maintain momentum
- Help students recover from bad decisions and failure
- Teach each topic in more than one way
- Show enthusiasm about the subject, even after teaching it for years
- Offer regular opportunities for self-definition (p. 29)

These strategies recommended by Wormeli (2014) incorporate an awareness of both academic and SEL needs. Other strategies for addressing academic and SEL needs recommended by Roeser et al. (2009) included scaffolding skills and activities to increase students' belief in their own capabilities, providing encouragement and emotional support for students when they struggle, and helping students understand the value and relevance of what they are learning in their own lives. Self-regulated strategy development, detailed in the next section, is another SEL-informed strategy found to have success with adolescent students.

Self-Regulated Strategy Development

The primary teaching method used for this capstone project is self-regulatory strategy development, or SRSD. SRSD was first developed in 1982 by Karen Harris, Steve Graham, and their research colleagues and teachers, including Linda Mason and Barbara Friedlander (Harris,

Graham, Mason, & Friedlander, 2008). Harris et al. (2008) initially developed SRSD to serve primarily students with learning disabilities; however, it became apparent that the strategy also showed positive outcomes for struggling writers who did not have learning disabilities.

SRSD differs from many teaching strategies in that it addresses both the academic and social/emotional needs of the struggling writer (Harris et al., 2008). The developers realized that struggling writers had difficulty with the academic task of writing, often producing writing that is "less polished, expansive, coherent, and effective that that of their typically achieving peers" (Harris et al., 2008, p. 4). Equally important, though, Harris et al. (2008) described the self-regulatory difficulties of struggling writers:

They may have difficulty comprehending task demands, producing effective task strategies, and using strategies to mediate performance. They may also experience reciprocal relationships among academic failure, self-doubt, learned helplessness, maladaptive attributions, unrealistic pretask expectations, low self-efficacy, and low motivation. Impulsivity, difficulties with memory or other aspects of information processing, low task engagement and persistence, devaluation of learning, and low productivity are also among the problems with which these students and their teachers must contend. (p. 4)

Self-regulated strategy development sought to address both of these needs by pairing deliberate, explicit academic instruction with components designed to increase the motivation, confidence, and positivity of students who struggle with writing. For example, an SRSD approach might combine the story-writing strategy Who, When, and Where (WWW) with creating self-instructions designed to push students past feelings of academic failure (Harris et al., 2008).

The next section details the essentials of SRSD instruction. These details come from *Powerful Writing Strategies for All Students*, written by Karen Harris, Steve Graham, Linda Mason, and Barbara Friedlander (2008).

SRSD consists of six instructional stages, but teachers and students should adjust the stages to meet their needs. These instructional stages can be used to teach various writing strategies; for example, POW + TREE is a writing strategy intended to help students plan and execute narrative, expository, and persuasive writing. Teachers and students may return to preceding stages at any time; in addition, the stages can be reordered, combined, or modified. Lessons usually consist of 20 to 60 minutes of instructional time, at least three times a week (Harris, et al., 2008).

Along with the instructional stages, Harris et al. (2008) emphasized four self-regulatory skills that teachers should work to develop with their students. These skills include goal setting, self-instructions, self-monitoring, and self-reinforcement. Designed to motivate, encourage, and build the self-efficacy of developing writers, the practice of these skills should be imbedded within the six stages of instruction.

Stage 1: Develop background knowledge. In stage 1, students learn critical background knowledge and skills for the upcoming writing assignment. If the teacher intends for students to write using a particular strategy, they would learn the essential vocabulary and methodology of that strategy during this stage. During this stage, teachers can work with students to develop self-instructions designed to push students past the type of negative, self-doubting thinking that often leads to failure. For example, Harris et al. (2008) described, "a student who tends to act impulsively might say to himself, 'Remember, I need to take my time and go slow'" (p. 14). As

part of this instruction, teachers might discuss with students positive and negative self-talk, and begin to discuss with students how this self-talk can either hurt or help them.

Stage 2: Discuss it. During the second stage, students and teachers discuss the strategy to be used and the importance of student effort. They discuss the specifics of the writing strategy (including any mnemonics to be used and step by step instructions) and the goals of using the writing strategy. Students should be made to feel like partners or collaborators; the goal of this stage is to begin increasing students' positive association with writing, as well as their motivation. Students might, during this stage, examine some of their past writing. Graphing elements of previous written work may prove useful, so students are able to examine their growth after using the strategy. This analysis should be a positive experience, and teachers should stress that it is okay if students made mistakes, as the purpose of the strategy is to grow as writers. Finally, teacher and students should discuss the purpose of the writing strategy, and when/how students could use this writing strategy in other contexts, assignments, and classes (Harris, et al., 2008).

Stage 3: Model it. During this stage, the teacher or a peer should model using the strategy and self-regulatory language while writing an actual essay. Harris et al. (2008) described what this modelling could look like:

- Problem definition (*What is it? What do I have to do here?*)
- Focusing attention and planning (*I need to concentrate. First, I need to...then...*)
- Strategy step statements (*I need to write down my strategy reminder*)
- Self-evaluation and error correcting (Have I used all my parts? Oops! I missed one. I'd better add it)

- Coping and self-control (I can handle this. I need to go slow and take my time)
- Self-reinforcement (*I like this ending!*) (p. 15)

Teachers can adapt this modelling to suit the specific strengths and weaknesses of their students. They should, though, be sure to model how to successfully cope with difficulty during the writing process. The modelling should feel enthusiastic and natural. Teachers can choose to involve students in the modelling process, if students are able. If a graphic organizer of some type is to be used, the model should also include it. The teacher should also detail the goal of the writing piece, and self-determine if that goal was met.

After the modelling, teacher and students should discuss the importance of self-regulation throughout the writing process. Students can begin coming up with their own self-statements, statements they will use during each stage of the writing process. These self-statements may be strategy reminders and/or self-confidence boosters for when students get stuck or experience some sort of difficulty.

Stage 4: Memorize it. During this stage, students are required to memorize any mnemonics and strategy steps that will be used. This memorization should have begun in earlier stages, but the students should be required to memorize these components before moving on. This is important, as students cannot effectively use a strategy that they cannot remember. Students can paraphrase strategy elements as long as the meaning remains the same (Harris, et al., 2008).

Stage 5: Support it. During stage 5, teachers scaffold writing instruction according to individual need. Students should use the self-instructions and learned writing strategy to begin composing their written work. Teachers work with students as needed, potentially

collaboratively writing with students who need it. The goal should be working students toward using the writing strategy and self-statements without assistance. This stage typically takes the longest for struggling writers, as they need plenty of support.

Harris et al. (2008) noted that Stage 5 might be considered the most important stage. Without it, research shows that struggling writers show "little or no improvement, even after all four previous stages have been sufficiently completed" (Harris et al., 2008, p. 19). Students must be adequately supported while beginning to write, with support diminishing until students are able to independently adopt the writing strategy on their own.

Stage 6: Independent performance. During this final stage, students should be encouraged to begin using self-instruction, or self-talk, in their head, instead of having the instructions written out in front of them. Self-regulation procedures can be continued, but teachers can also pull them back as needed. Teacher and students can discuss plans for using the strategies in the future, and they may also discuss the writing process and whether goals were met (Harris, et al., 2008).

These six stages serve as the instructional basis for SRSD. Teachers can utilize writing strategies, but the idea is to teaching and practice the strategy using the six stages detailed above. The next section will examine research studies that have been completed using SRSD.

SRSD Research and Case Studies

There has been substantial research about the effect of using SRSD to teach writing to students. This research includes two core focuses: first, the use of SRSD as an intervention for students with disabilities; second, the use of SRSD as a general education strategy used with all students.

SRSD was initially developed to be used as an intervention for students with learning disabilities (LD) (Harris, et al., 2008). To get a closer look at the challenges students with learning disabilities face when writing, Graham, Collins, and Rigby-Wills (2017) conducted a meta-analysis that compared the writing of students with LD to their general education peers. They found that on every writing outcome measured, students with LD were less proficient than their peers (Graham et al., 2017). Specifically, their meta-analysis discovered that students with LD earned lower scores than their peers when looking at skills related to writing quality, organization, vocabulary, sentence fluency, conventions of spelling, grammar, and handwriting, genre elements, output, and motivation. In the meta-analysis, the highest discrepancy in skills were in the categories of conventions of spelling, grammar, and handwriting, followed by overall writing quality (Graham et al., 2017).

Another meta-analysis, completed by What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) (2017) looked at nine case studies in which SRSD was used as a writing intervention for students with disabilities. They found that 88% of the single case design experiments included in these studies documented a positive effect, and 0 experiments documented a negative effect. This led WWC (2017) to conclude that SRSD writing intervention has strong evidence of a positive effect.

For a writing teacher, these two meta-analysis studies demonstrate two important conclusions. First, students with disabilities have very real and measurable struggles when it comes to completing a formal writing task. Second, evidence indicates that SRSD, when used as an intervention with those struggling students, has overwhelmingly positive effects. As a teacher who, like many others, has sat through countless professional development opportunities hoping

for some strategy that will truly help these struggling students, it is very exciting to note the success of SRSD.

De La Paz and Graham (as cited in WWC, 2017) completed one of the studies included by WWC. In their study, De La Paz and Graham taught three fifth-grade special education students STOP and DARE writing strategies (as cited in WWC, 2017). The special education students, referred to as Rand, Elayne, and Aviendha, all demonstrated positive writing outcomes as a result of SRSD instruction. For example, the number of "functional essay elements increased by 376% for Rand, 204% for Elayne, and 199% for Aviendha" (De La Paz & Graham, as cited in WWC, 2017, p. 21).

SRSD has also been used to teach writing to students with emotional behavioral disorders (EBD). Losinski, Cuenca- Carlino, Zablocki, and Teagarden (2014) conducted a meta-analysis in which they analyzed twenty of these studies. They found that SRSD interventions consistently had a large, positive effect on the essay elements, essay quality, and word count of writing completed by students with EBD (Losinski et al., 2014). Sreckovic, Common, Knowles, and Lane (2014) had similar findings, noting that SRSD clearly had a positive impact on students with EBD.

In particular, Losinski et al., (2014) noted that the positive impact of SRSD has been demonstrated across elementary, middle, and high school grade levels. This is notable, as research has shown that students with EBD often become increasingly resistant to intervention efforts as they grow older (O'Shaughnessy, Lane, Gresham, & Beebe-Frankenberger, as cited by Sreckovic et al., 2014). Research has also indicated that students with EBD can transfer the skills they gain from SRSD instruction to other assessments; for example, students' scores on the

Woodcock Johnson writing assessment (a test often used in special education evaluations) improved after receiving SRSD intervention (Ennis, Jolivette, Terry, Fredrick, & Alberto, 2015).

Cuenca-Carlino and Mustian (2013) conducted an SRSD study in which they combined persuasive writing and self-determination skills to teach writing to students with EBD. Self-determination was perceived as having the skills and behaviors that lead to success, such as setting reasonable goals and problem-solving (Cuenca-Carlino et al., 2013). According to the authors, many students with EBD have difficulty with these self-determination skills, the lack of which has been linked to higher dropout rates and lower rates of postsecondary education and employment. The intention of the study was to both grow students academically, as well as increase the students' self-advocacy skills.

Cuenca-Carlino et al.'s study (2013) revealed positive results after the SRSD intervention. According to these authors, students' work grew in terms of number of words written, transition words, number of essay parts, and overall quality. In addition to the academic improvement, researchers also noted growth in students' self-regulation skills as a result of this intervention. To measure this, researchers conducted student interviews both pre and post intervention. They found that students' self-determination skill knowledge, self-efficacy, and self-confidence as writers increased as a result of the SRSD intervention. These findings are exciting as they point to both academic and emotional achievement as a result of SRSD. This idea-- that SRSD can both improve students' skills as coherent writers while also giving them the tools to become more confident and independent in their studies-- is critical to the decision to use SRSD to create the lessons in this capstone project.

Due to the academic and behavioral demands of students with EBD, Ennis, Harris, Lane, and Mason (2014) made several suggestions for implementing SRSD with these students. In particular, the researchers suggested that teachers prioritize motivating and discussing relevance with students, as well as capitalizing on and celebrating moments of success and growth. Ennis et al. also highly suggested teaching SRSD instruction within the context of school-wide and individual behavior plans. Favorably, the self-regulatory language employed in SRSD (for example, positive self-talk statements) likely corresponds to language being used in other contexts for students with EBD (for example, in a social skills class); thus one context can serve to reinforce the other (Ennis et al., 2014). While teachers of students with EBD may have special considerations like the ones mentioned above, teachers in this context have noted that they were able to implement the strategy successfully even with the high behavior needs of students (Ennis, Jolivette, Terry, Fredrick, & Alberto, 2015).

SRSD writing instruction has also shown positive effects for students with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Taft & Mason, as cited in Mason, Harris, & Graham, 2011). Reid, Trout, and Schartz (2005) conducted a meta-analysis in which they analyzed the use of four self-regulation interventions (self-monitoring, self-monitoring plus reinforcement, self-management, and self-reinforcement). They found that these techniques held positive outcomes for increasing the on-task behavior, academic accuracy, and productivity, as well as decreasing the inappropriate behavior of students with ADHD (Reid et al., 2005). Given the emphasis of self-regulatory skills and language in SRSD writing instruction, its use as a form of writing instruction for students with ADHD is promising.

While SRSD was initially developed intentionally for students with disabilities (Harris et al., 2008), researchers have also seen benefits when SRSD is used to teach students in a general education classroom. For example, De La Paz and Graham (2002) conducted a study to compare the results of SRSD writing instruction with general writing instruction for general education middle school students. All students, in both the control groups and the experimental groups, wrote expository and persuasive essays. Students in the experimental group were taught the PLAN and WRITE strategies using both the SRSD six stage instructional stages and the self-regulatory language (Harris et al., 2008). Students in the control group were taught a variation of lessons that reviewed grammar, essay elements, and sentence structure. De La Paz and Graham (2002) found that in comparison to their peers, students in the experimental group wrote essays that were lengthier, contained more complex vocabulary, and were of better quality. Notably, when given a writing assessment one month after instruction had ended, the students who received SRSD instruction continued to outperform their peers.

The implementation of SRSD as an intervention at Mountain View Elementary School had similar success (Johnson, Hancock, Carter, & Pool, 2012). Mountain View began by utilizing SRSD as a Tier 2 intervention, targeting specific students who were far below proficient. They were so impressed with the positive results of the intervention that they decided to expand the instruction in the following years to include Tier 1 students, or the entire grade level of students. Thus, again, SRSD instruction was expanded from its original context in the special education classroom to being used in the general education classroom.

Summary

To address the research question- *How can I use self-regulated strategy development to to teach expository writing to middle school students*, this literature review considered the impact of writing in our society, the academic, social, and emotional concerns of middle school students, and the research that has been completed regarding SRSD in different contexts.

Being able to write well is a skill that will help students in many ways. Notably, Conley (2007) confirmed its place in the college classroom, with students using their writing skills in the majority of college classes. Without question, many students are arriving at college without the skills they need to succeed based on standardized test scores (NAEP, 2012), as well as the large number of students taking remedial classes (Schak, 2017). This makes this capstone project all the more relevant, as, the more we can do to grow our students' skills in middle and high school, the better we serve them for the future.

Knowing that this capstone project ideally will be used in a middle school setting, the research delved into the academic, emotional, and social needs of the average middle school student, as well as teaching strategies that understand and appreciate the uniqueness of adolescents. Robinson's (2017) research into the adolescent brain pointed to learning opportunities that encourage interdisciplinary teaching, controversial topics, healthy competition, social engagement, service learning, and metacognitive thinking. Additionally, research showed the benefits for students of schools that embrace social and emotional learning (SEL) as part of their curriculum (Durlak et al., 2011).

Self-regulated strategy development (Harris et al., 2008) is a unique form of writing instruction that combines six instructional stages with the employment of self-regulatory language. Many case studies have shown the positive effects of SRSD, particularly when used as

an intervention for students with disabilities (What Works Clearinghouse, 2017). Research has also shown, though, that SRSD has promising effects when used with all students, those with and without disabilities (De La Paz & Graham, 2002).

For teachers of middle school students, the emphasis on the *combination* of academics and emotional support for students is promising based on the demands of the adolescent life stage. Middle school students are needy and emotional; they oscillate between the highs and lows of life, dramatically, in what often feels like seconds. They thrive on relationship, encouragement, and recognition as individuals. SRSD recognizes and meets these demands.

This review of the research literature creates a strong case that SRSD has the potential to help students, particularly struggling students, as it gives them both the academic tools to be successful with writing, as well as the metacognitive support to see that they are capable of success with writing. For students used to failure, seeing themselves as capable of success is sometimes half the battle. For this reason, SRSD was used to create a series of writing lessons with the intention of using these lessons in a 7th grade classroom. The next chapter outlines the context and rationale for this capstone project.

CHAPTER THREE

Using Self-Regulated Strategy Development to Create Middle School Writing Lessons

Project Overview

Over the last three years teaching 7th grade English, I have noticed several trends. First, as the district and school has focused on reading, time dedicated to writing instruction has decreased. Second, my struggling students, in particular, my students with disabilities, seem to exhibit more difficulty and anxiety with completing a formal writing task than many other classroom tasks and activities.

In the literature review, my goal was to better understand strategies that can help struggling students with the writing process, and to answer the question: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* For my capstone project, I developed a series of lessons that combined the instructional stages of self-regulated strategy development (Harris, Graham, Mason, & Friedlander, 2008) with the development and practice of self-regulatory skills meant to motivate and encourage my middle school students.

The literature review highlighted the importance of writing in collegiate level courses (Conley, 2007), as well as the distressingly downward trend of writing skills based on standardized test scores (NAEP, 2012). This made my capstone project all the more relevant, as it sought to help middle school students set the groundwork for becoming successful, collegiate level writers. Using SRSD (Harris et al., 2008) to teach writing skills has been shown to have positive outcomes for students both with and without disabilities (What Works Clearinghouse,

2017; De La Paz & Graham, 2002). Therefore, my project sought to use SRSD to inform the way that I teach writing to my 7th grade middle school students.

As teachers, we have a lot of responsibility placed on our shoulders. Each year, we are given classes filled with students of differing abilities, and the expectation is that we teach in a way to ensure growth from each and every one of our students by the end of the year. As every teacher knows, though, these students are not their standardized test scores. They come into our classrooms with a host of social and emotional concerns each day-- many of them wholly consumed by the drama that just unfolded at lunch, and some of them unsure when and what their next meal might consist of.

They also bring with them the academic patterns they have grown used to--some with the positive associations we try to encourage--trying, learning, growing--some with negative associations, weariness with the cycle of failure and disillusionment leading to refusal, defiance. In my experience, many students with these negative associations are my students receiving special education services. SRSD has shown success with these struggling students by teaching writing instruction paired with self-regulatory language, designed to give those struggling students new models of self-talk and encouragement. Research suggested SRSD also helps grow students who exhibit grade-level writing tendencies. For this reason, I am excited to use SRSD in my classroom to teach writing.

This chapter includes my project's setting and target audience, in order to give the reader a better sense as to where and why the project will be implemented. Chapter Three also includes a detailed description of my project, as well as the curriculum and research framework. This allows the reader to understand the thought behind the structure and format of my project.

Setting for the Capstone Project

I teach in a public school district that consists of seventeen elementary schools, four middle schools, three high schools, and one alternative learning center. There are more than 80 languages spoken throughout the school district, and approximately 17.9% of our students receive Special Education services. Since 2015, three years, I have worked as a 7th grade English teacher in this school district, at a middle school that teaches students in grades 6, 7, and 8.

At my particular school, we serve about 800 middle school students. The school is approximately 64% White, 15% Hispanic, 12% Black, and 7% Asian, with about 42% of our students receiving free and reduced lunch. Since my capstone project sought to improve instruction, it may be useful to know that academic profile of the school. Each year, my students take the Comprehensive Assessment required by the state. These tests measure reading and math achievement. In the 2017-2018 school year, 49% of 7th grade students at my school met proficiency or exceeded on the reading portion of the test; 43% of our 7th grade students met proficiency or exceeded on the math.

My classes typically consist of 28-34 students, and they are a mix of gifted, general education, and special education students. I typically teach one honors English class (primarily gifted students), three regular English classes (mix of general education, special education, and gifted students), and two Extended English courses (a remedial reading course for non-special education, non-English learner students who test below grade level on standardized assessments).

I intend to use my project in my three sections of regular English. Extended English is a supplementary class, meaning that Extended English students also are enrolled in a regular

English class. Therefore, if needed, I could also use SRSD with my Extended English students if they required more support. This past year, in total, I had twenty-four special education students in my classroom, including students with general learning disabilities (LD), emotional behavioral disorder (EBD), and autism spectrum disorder (ASD). My classes are forty-six minutes long.

Target Audience

My target audience for this capstone project was my professional learning community, or PLC, which consists of the two other English teachers at my school who also teach 7th grade English. The purpose of a PLC is to investigate and analyze data to make our teaching practices stronger, so my PLC is the ideal place to implement and analyze the results of using this strategy. Provided we see success implementing the strategy in our English classes (for example, noting that our students exhibit less reluctance to tackle a writing task), my target audience might expand to include teachers of other subject matters, who could help develop and use the self-regulatory skills in their own classes as well. In particular, social studies teachers might also benefit from using SRSD in their classes, given the amount of writing their students tend to complete.

Project Description

For my capstone project, I created a series of lesson plans designed to teach expository essay writing to middle school students. These lessons utilized the SRSD six stage instructional framework, as well as the incorporation of SRSD self-regulation techniques (Harris et al., 2008). The lessons were also informed by what I have learned, through my review of current literature, about the academic, social, and emotional developmental needs of adolescents.

All lessons work toward the Common Core State Standard 7.2: Write informative/ explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content (The NGA Center/CCSSO, 2010). The end goal of these lessons was to scaffold students toward the creation of a five paragraph expository essay.

In my school community and the larger English teacher community, there has been a lot of debate about the effectiveness of the five paragraph essay. Opponents of the five paragraph essay believe that it creates a mold that students are reluctant to break free from-- writing the standard five paragraph essay far into high school and even college, when divergent writing styles and forms are encouraged (Hill Campbell, 2014). Supporters of the five paragraph essay argue that it teaches students a clear structure for organizing their writing, and these organizational skills are necessary regardless of writing type (Smith, 2006). Currently, the English teachers at my school have agreed to continue teaching the five paragraph essay, citing those organizational and structural reasons.

Most readers will likely be familiar with the five paragraph essay. The five paragraph essay begins with an introduction paragraph, in which students seek to capture the reader's attention and give them a slight hint at what is to come. This first sentence is often called a hook. The last sentence of the introduction paragraph is referred to as the thesis statement, the core of the essay, in which the student explicitly informs readers of the three points to follow in the body paragraphs. The three points should be presented in the order in which they will be explained in the body paragraphs.

The three body paragraphs follow the introduction paragraph. Each body paragraph begins with a topic sentence. In 7th grade, we ask that students incorporate at least three reasons that support or prove the topic sentence into each body paragraph, along with *commentary* explaining each reason. In the SRSD language of my lesson plans, readers will notice that this commentary is called the *explanation*, in which the writer further explains and gives details about each reason in the body paragraphs. Each body paragraph, then, ends with some sort of closure statement.

Finally, the last paragraph of the five paragraph essay is the resolution. The resolution begins with a summary statement. This summary statement restates the three points presented in the thesis, in the same order that they appear in the essay, but using slightly different language than the thesis statement. The summary statement and the thesis statement should not be the same sentence. The essay then ends with a clincher statement, in which the writer provides the reader with one final thought.

In my district, students arrive at middle school having already written, in elementary school, a rudimentary version of the five paragraph essay. Sixth grade teachers review this format, and emphasize the necessity of both the thesis statement and supporting evidence in body paragraphs. In 7th grade, we review this structure once more, and we emphasize building effective supporting evidence and adding commentary. In 8th grade, students will write even longer body paragraphs, and students will begin incorporating textual evidence in the form of direct quotes.

These lessons will be presented directly following a unit that focuses on grammar and writing mechanics. At my school, grammar instruction has been divided based on grade level. In

sixth grade, students review the components of a sentence and learn simple sentence basics. In seventh grade, students review simple sentences and learn how to write compound sentences. In eighth grade, students review simple and compound sentences, and then learn how to write complex sentences. Therefore, my assessment for the five paragraph essay will contain a grammar mechanics component.

The lesson sequence begins after one day of review, during which I review the basic components of the five paragraph essay that students should remember from 6th grade and earlier. This includes stressing the necessity of a clear thesis statement, one that presents the three points to follow in the order in which they will appear in the essay. In addition, we review the basic components of each body paragraph, and I explain that in 7th grade, we focus on providing additional support for each reason included in the body paragraphs.

For this lesson series, students will write a five paragraph essay that answers the prompt *Tell me three things people might not know about you.* I chose this topic for a few reasons. First, every student should have material to answer this prompt; after all, it is about them. It gives students vast choice in terms of what they wish to write about, from sports to food to past experiences. My hope it that students will be passionate about potential topics—for example, a student that loves hockey can write at least one paragraph about hockey, and hopefully he will have plenty to say about something he loves.

This prompt appeals to the developmental needs of middle school students. As stated in Chapter Two, Robinson (2017) found that adolescents are motivated most by social activities, and this certainly matches what I have seen in my classroom. I see evidence of the social nature of middle schoolers everywhere in my classroom, from their absolute joy when allowed to pick

their own partners, to the number of times I have comforted a student in tears after lunch because of the "drama" (countless). Based on my experience as a teacher, an intrinsic part of this adolescent social motivation is an active desire to be seen, heard, and understood by peers.

Adults, too, have this desire, but I believe it is quelled, somewhat, by the maturity and self-confidence that comes with age. Adolescents are insecure, needy, and seeking approval from their peers almost constantly, and this prompt gives them a forum for expressing themselves to and being further understood by their peers.

There are risks to this prompt. My years as a teacher have shown me that teens can sometimes be unbearably mean to one another, and in an atmosphere where peer approval is valued so highly, the impact of this animosity is often devastating. There is a chance that a student could be hurt emotionally by a peer reading and reacting negatively to something she has revealed about herself in her essay. This is a real risk, as I do intend to have students participate in peer revisions, following this lesson sequence. To combat that risk, first and foremost, I will tell students before they begin writing that they will be sharing with at least two other students. They likely will tailor their topics accordingly. I will encourage them to stay true to themselves, but avoid writing about anything too revealing, knowing their peers are going to be reading their work.

I also believe my classroom atmosphere will help make this prompt one which students feel comfortable addressing. One of my strongest values as an educator is in creating a safe space for my students, where students can make mistakes and be themselves freely, without fear of repercussions. At the beginning of the year, my introductory lessons stress the impact of bullying and negativity, and I insist that it will be not tolerated in my classroom. I always tell my students

that I will treat them with compassion and kindness, and the expectation is that this treatment will be reciprocated toward me and demonstrated toward one another.

Certainly, I am not always successful; there have been students over the years who struggle with these expectations. As I have gained more experience as an educator, though, I have seen more success than failure at being able to create this community feel in my classes, and I expect that this will help me with a writing prompt like this one. Additionally, the vulnerability students might experience in writing these essays may lead to acceptance and connection, which would help strengthen that community atmosphere.

Table 1 (Appendix A) details the scope and sequence of my lesson plans. The scope and sequence highlights the objectives of each lesson and the SRSD stage of instruction. Full lesson plans, along with supplementary materials, can be found in the Appendix.

Curriculum Framework

My lessons were based, in part, on Universal Design for Learning (UDL), a framework that seeks to "improve and optimize teaching and learning for all people based on scientific insights into how people learn" (CAST, 2018, para 1). The Center for Applied Special Technology (CAST), a nonprofit education research development organization, has played a large part in taking the concepts of universal design, first implemented in the field of architecture, and adopting them into the field of education.

In the field of education, UDL has been considered inclusive of students with disabilities, as it highlights the many different pathways toward success that a variety of learners might take in one classroom (Rao, Smith, & Lowrey, 2017). CAST (2018) described three essential guidelines for ensuring all students can participate successfully in learning opportunities: provide

multiple means of engagement, provide multiple means of representation, and provide multiple means of action and expression. These three guidelines are then further broken down into more concrete suggestions for educators. My lessons prioritize the UDL concept of providing multiple means of engagement, otherwise known as establishing the "why of learning" (CAST, 2018).

In particular, my lessons emphasize the UDL concepts of creating relevance for students by allowing student choice and individual self-expression, varying levels of challenge and support based on student need, establishing and discussing goals, fostering collaboration and communication, developing and discussing self-coping skills and strategies, and offering opportunities for self-assessment and reflection (CAST, 2018). While I developed my lessons with my struggling students in mind, the lessons are meant to be used as whole group instruction, with varying levels of scaffolded support and challenge based on individual need.

Critical also to my design framework was self-regulated strategy development, described in *Powerful Writing Strategies for All Students* by Harris, Graham, Mason, and Friedlander (2008). I based my lessons on the six stages of instruction described by Harris et al. in their book, and discussed in detail in Chapter Two of this capstone project: Develop Background Knowledge, Discuss It, Model It, Memorize It, Support It, and Independent Performance. In addition to their instructional framework, I also emphasized the development of self-regulation skills and and strategies in my lessons, a key concept of Harris et al.'s (2008) description of SRSD.

Assessment

I will assess the success of my project is two different ways. First, student essays will be assessed via a rubric (Appendix C). This rubric seeks primarily to identify which students have

successfully included the various parts of the five paragraph essay in their work. A complete essay should contain a hook, a correctly written thesis statement, three body paragraphs (each consisting of a topic sentence and reasons and commentary that support the topic sentence), a summary statement, and a clincher statement. As a teacher, I will reflect on my own practice and look back at preceding years, seeking to compare the success of this strategy with ways that I have taught the five paragraph essay to former students. The assessment rubric will also include two statements that will not detract from the student's grade. These two statements are as follows:

_____ Student used strategies POW + TREE while writing

Student used self-statements and coping skills when/if frustrated

I will use these two statements as a self-reflection, to see whether students seem to find the strategies taught to them beneficial, as demonstrated by their use of them while writing.

The project's effectiveness will also be assessed via a Writing Skills Survey (Appendix D). This survey asks students to rate their confidence with different aspects of the writing task. Students will take this survey prior to the first lesson in this lesson sequence, and they will take the survey again after the lesson sequence has ended. I will compare the results looking at individual students.

To assess their confidence with the content and structure of the five paragraph essays, students are asked to rate their confidence with the following statements:

- I can brainstorm usable ideas for a 5 paragraph essay.
- I can write a clear thesis statement that gives my reader a preview of the ideas to follow.

 I can write a thorough body paragraph that contains support and details for the main point.

Because a focus of this project was the discussion and practice of self-regulation strategies, I also want to assess the effectiveness of that work. The following statements, which students will also rate with regard to their personal feelings of confidence, address this focus:

- I know strategies for coping when I am frustrated with a writing task.
- I can work through frustration and be successful with my writing.

Success will also be measured, albeit less formally, throughout the year, as my students tackle different writing assignments. We will return to this structure and practice throughout the year, and I will look for whether or not students are beginning to transfer, on their own, the self-regulation skills to other assignments.

Timeline

This capstone project began in the summer of 2018. Drafts of Chapter One, Chapter Two, and Chapter Three were completed during the summer of 2018. Chapters One, Two, and Three were revised in the fall of 2018. The lessons were written following a review of the literature on the impact of writing in today's society, the academic, social, and emotional developmental needs of adolescents, and case studies that used self-regulated strategy development. Chapter Four, a reflection on the lesson writing process and capstone experience, was written in the fall of 2018. The project was submitted for assessment in early December, 2018.

Summary

Thus far, in this capstone project, Chapter One introduced the project and described the professional and personal journey that led me to this point in my career. Chapter Two reviewed

relevant literature, focusing on the topics of writing relevance in today's society, academic, social, and emotional developmental needs of adolescents, and case studies of researchers who have used SRSD as a teaching strategy for students with and without disabilities. Chapter Three outlined the setting, audience, curriculum framework, research methods, and a more detailed project description. In the final chapter of my capstone project, I reflect on the capstone project process itself.

CHAPTER FOUR

Reflection

Introduction

As an educator, I want my students to be well-equipped for success in their futures. For both the pursuit of higher education and most employment opportunities, the ability to write formally and coherently is a necessity. My experience as a teacher has shown me that some students really struggle with tackling a writing task. Academically, students often struggle with maintaining organization and structure in a writing piece. Behaviorally, many of these same students struggle with maintaining the focus and attention necessary to see a writing piece to its fruition. This led me to my research question: *How can the teaching of self-regulated skills be integrated into lessons focused on developing the expository writing of middle school students?* This question led to my development of a series of expository writing lessons I intend to use in my classroom. This last chapter summarizes key findings from my literature review, reflect on the curriculum process itself, and discuss limitations and future intentions for my project.

Key Understandings from Literature Review

Conducting my literature review was a very informative process. While all of my sources led me to my project creation, a few sources proved especially critical. Conley's (2007) discussion of the prevalence and importance of writing for the college student helped me understand the relevance of including quality writing instruction in our middle and high school classrooms. This finding--that writing is a high leverage skill for students--is distressing considering the writing achievement demonstrated by standardized tests, such as the ones

provided by National Assessment for Educational Progress (2008, 2012). Unfortunately, these tests suggest that the majority of students in the United States are not proficient in the skills necessary for quality writing, reporting particularly low numbers of proficiency for students with disabilities (NAEP, 2008).

Robinson's research (2017) into the adolescent brain also contributed to my curriculum development. In particular, her finding that metacognitive thinking is a marker of quality adolescent education helped point me in the direction of self-regulated strategy development, which allows students to practice these metacognitive skills. Robinson (2017) also found that these metacognitive skills can be improved with practice, suggesting that the inclusion of self-regulation practices would be a worthwhile addition to curriculum.

The conclusions drawn from Durlak's (2011) meta-analysis of social emotional learning (SEL) programs also was informative. Stemming from my own personal experience as a classroom teacher, I believed going into this project that academic, social, and emotional concerns are very intertwined for middle school students, and that a successful teacher recognizes and utilizes this understanding. Durlak's (2011) discovery of the benefits of SEL informed schools and instruction confirmed this belief, and led me to believe that a quality curricular approach would combine academics with recognition of the social and emotional needs of middle school students.

Finally, I gained essential understandings for the creation of my project through researching self-regulated strategy development-- what it is, how to implement it, and how teachers and researchers have used it in the past. In particular, Harris et al.'s (2008) book *Powerful Writing Strategies for All Students* helped me understand the stages of development to

SRSD, as well as how to incorporate self-regulatory language and practice throughout instruction. The meta-analysis conducted by What Works Clearinghouse (2017) showed me the benefits of using SRSD as an intervention for students with disabilities. De La Paz and Graham's (2002) use of SRSD in the general education classroom encouraged me to use this strategy as a form of whole group instruction.

Project Review

For my project, I created a series of lessons that used self-regulated strategy development to teach expository writing to middle school students. Throughout these lessons, students moved through the six stages of SRSD instruction. Students also created and practiced using self-regulatory phrases when they experienced frustration completing the writing task. The POW + TREE writing strategies (Harris et al., 2008) are taught to students as a means for brainstorming ideas and remembering the components of an essay. At the end of these lessons, students are asked to write a five paragraph essay responding to the following prompt: Tell me three things people might not know about you. After the lesson sequence, students went on to complete self and peer essay reviews. The effectiveness of my project is assessed through both an assessment rubric, aimed at determining students' inclusion of critical parts of the five paragraph essay, and a writing skills survey, meant to determine the success of the strategy's attempt to increase student confidence with regard to their writing. Students reviewed and practiced using the strategies at different times throughout the school year, when asked to complete various writing tasks.

Project Limitations

Part of this project's success is dependent on student buy-in. While the use of self-regulatory language and skills seems beneficial, as it targets behavioral areas in which many students struggle, I predict that some students might not see the relevance of this type of thinking. Middle school students are very sensitive to being "talked down to," and I fear that for some students, these phrases and skills might seem more elementary than they prefer. Because of these potential concerns, there might be some push back against the strategies. It will fall to the teacher, then, to know the students enough to present the lessons and skills to achieve maximum buy-in from students.

In my classroom, this has meant a few different considerations. First, I intend to teach the concept of self-regulation in language I think my students will both understand and connect with. "Frustration" is going to be a key word for me during these lessons, as I think it clearly expresses what many students would verbalize as their feelings during the writing process. For instance, when modeling, I might say, "When I am staring at the blank page in front of me and I feel frustrated, I need to remember to take a breath and think about things I have a lot to say about." My modelling of self-regulatory language needs to feel authentic, practical, and meaningful. This modeling can be shaped by the real struggles my students have in my classroom. For instance, I see many students struggle with how to begin writing that first sentence. If my modeling stems from these real problems, it is more likely to feel authentic to students.

Second, my success with these lessons, as with most things in the classroom, will depend partially on my relationship with each student. If students trust that I will lead them in the right direction, they will be more likely to follow my lead, even when the language and practice of

these skills might seem awkward and uncomfortable. I will continue to stress the normalcy of anxiety relating to writing, and how this anxiety can be overcome with the use of these strategies.

Project Implications

The natural audience for my project is my English PLC, consisting of the two other teachers at my school who teach 7th grade English. I will share my project with these members of my PLC through both the distribution of my lessons in the form of a binder, as well as a presentation describing the creation and focus of the project.

Based on the outcomes of this project, one implication of the project may be the inclusion of self-regulation strategies, talk, and ideas throughout much more of my curriculum. At my school, self-regulation strategies are frequently included in curriculum for special education students who have emotional or behavioral needs. For example, many students may receive this type of instruction in a Social Skills class taught by a special education teacher. I do not think, though, that students always understand that these strategies and skills can be used in a general education, academic context. For example, they may learn to take a deep breath and count to ten when they are experiencing drama or anger with a peer. They might not know, though, that the frustration they experience when they face a writing task could be helped using similar strategies. By incorporating self-regulation strategies into my academic instruction, I would be providing support for the instruction given by these special education teachers, and I would also be helping students understand ways they can work through frustration they experience in the classroom.

Above all else, this project and the research leading to its development has convinced me of the need to incorporate and consider academic, social, and emotional needs as an integral part

of designing successful curriculum for adolescents. This finding supports my experience as a teacher. Middle school students are not usually capable of leaving their social and emotional concerns outside the classroom door, and this frequently becomes evident from behaviors exhibited in the classroom. I firmly believe that a successful middle school teacher finds ways to support adolescent social and emotional development in her lessons, and I think that self-regulation strategies are one way to do so.

Summary

For my capstone project, I created a series of lessons designed to incorporate self-regulation strategies into the teaching of expository writing to middle school students. Chapter One outlined my history and the initial thought behind the project. Chapter Two detailed the results of many researchers whose studies contributed to the development of the project. Chapter Three described the project more in detail. Finally, Chapter Four offered a reflection after the project's completion. This project has given me the time and space to consider the many factors that contribute to a student's success in my classroom. In particular, the project has given me a new set of tools to use to help my students, especially my struggling students, see success with their writing. The project has also given me a new appreciation for the complexity of tasks involved with the writing process, particularly for students who struggle with self-regulation, an appreciation that I think will ultimately allow me to be a more effective and empathetic educator.

REFERENCES

- Albert, D. and Steinberg, L. (2011), Judgment and Decision Making in Adolescence. Journal of Research on Adolescence, 21: 211–224. Retrieved from https://repository.brynmawr.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1053&context=psych pubs
- Baca, J. (1991). Coming into language. *Reflections on Albuquerque County Jail*. Retrieved from https://pen.org/coming-into-language/
- Belfield, C., Bowden, A., Klapp, A., Levin, H., Shand, R., & Zander, S. (2015). The economic value of social and emotional learning. *Journal of Benefit-Cost Analysis*, 6(3), 508-544. doi:10.1017/bca.2015.55.
- CAST (2018). *Universal design for learning guidelines version 2.2*. Retrieved from http://udlguidelines.cast.org
- Christensen, L. (2000). *Reading, writing, and rising up*. Milwaukee, WI: Rethinking Schools.
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2018). *Social and emotional learning core competencies*. Retrieved from

 https://casel.org/core-competencies/
- Conley, D. (2007). Redefining college readiness. Eugene, OR: *Educational Policy Improvement Center*. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED539251.pdf
- Cuenca-Carlino, Y., & Mustian, A. L. (2013). Self-regulated strategy development:

 Connecting persuasive writing to self-advocacy for students with emotional and

- behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, *39*(1), 3-15. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph& AN=95720254&site=ehost-live
- De La Paz, S., & Graham, S. (2002). Explicitly teaching strategies, skills, and knowledge: Writing instruction in middle school classrooms. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *94*(4), 687-698. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.94.4.687
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D. & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82: 405-432. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x.
- Ennis, R., Harris, K., Lane, K., & Mason, L. (2014). Lessons learned from implementing self-regulated strategy development with students with emotional and behavioral disorders in alternative educational settings.

 **Behavioral Disorders*, 40(1), 68-77. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=101101309&site=ehost-live
- Ennis, R., Jolivette, K., Terry, N., Fredrick, L., & Alberto, P. (2015). Classwide teacher implementation of self-regulated strategy development for writing with students with E/BD in a residential facility. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 24(1), 88-111. doi: 10.1007/s10864-014-9207-7
- Graham, S., Collins, A. A., & Rigby-Wills, H. (2017). Writing characteristics of students with learning disabilities and typically achieving peers: A

- meta-analysis. *Exceptional Children*, *83*(2), 199-218. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=keh& AN=120583891&site=ehost-live
- Harris, K., Graham, S., Mason, L., & Friedlander, B. (2008). *Powerful writing strategies* for all students. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc.
- Hassel, H., & Giordano, J. B. (2015). The blurry borders of college writing:

 Remediation and the assessment of student readiness. *College English*, 78(1),

 56-80. Retrieved from

 http://www.academia.edu/19103747/The_Blurry_Borders_of_College_Writing_Remedia
 tion and the Assessment of Student Readiness
- Hill Campbell, K. (2014). Beyond the five-paragraph essay. *Educational***Leadership, 71(7), 60-65. Retrieved from

 http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=mih&

 AN=95379320&site=ehost-live
- Johnson, E. S., Hancock, C., Carter, D. R., & Pool, J. L. (2013). Self-regulated strategy development as a Tier 2 writing intervention. *Intervention In School & Clinic*, 48(4), 218-222. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451212462880
- Joseph, N. (2010). Metacognition needed: Teaching middle and high school students to develop strategic learning skills. *Preventing School Failure*, *54*(2), 99-103. doi:10.1080/10459880903217770
- Learning Express Writing Team. (2003). *501 writing prompts*. New York: Learning Express. Retrieved from

- http://www.misd.net/languageart/grammarinaction/501writingprompts.pdf
- Losinski, M., Cuenca-Carlino, Y., Zablocki, M., & Teagarden, J. (2014). Examining the efficacy of self-regulated strategy development for students with emotional or behavioral disorders: A meta-analysis. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(1), 52-67.

 Retrieved from

 http://search.ebscohost.com/ezproxy/hamline/edu:2048/login/aspx?direct=true&db=aph&
 - http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph& AN=101101308&site=ehost-live
- Lounsbury, J. (2010). This we believe: Keys to educating young adolescents. *Middle School Journal*, 41:3, 52-53. doi:10.1080/00940771.2010.11461722.
- Mason, L. H., Harris, K. R., & Graham, S. (2011). Self-regulated strategy development for students with writing difficulties. *Theory Into Practice*, *50*(1), 20-27. doi:10.1080/00405841.2011.534922
- Montessori, M., & George, A. E. (1964). The Montessori method. New York: Schocken Books.
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2008). *The nation's report card: Writing*2007, state snapshot report (pdf) (NCES 2008- 470). Washington, DC: Institute of
 Education Sciences. Retrieved from

 https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pdf/stt2007/2008470MN8.PDF
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2012). *The nation's report card: writing 2011,*National assessment of educational progress at grades 8 and 12 (pdf) (NCES 2012–470). Washington, DC: Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pdf/main2011/2012470.pdf
- Rao, K., Smith, S. J., & Lowrey, K. A. (2017). UDL and intellectual disability: What do

- we know and where do we go?. *Intellectual & Developmental Disabilities*, 55(1), 37-47. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-55.1.37
- Reid, R., Trout, A. L., & Schartz, M. (2005). Self-regulation interventions for children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Exceptional Children*, 71(4), 361-377. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eft&AN=507813472&site=ehost-live
- Robinson, R. (2017). Implications for middle schools from adolescent brain research. *American Secondary Education*, *45*(3), 29-37. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=keh&AN=125089082&site=ehost-live
- Roeser, R., Eccles, J., & Sameroff, A. (2000). School as a context of early adolescents' academic and social-emotional development: A summary of research findings. *The Elementary School Journal*, *100*(5), 443-471. Retrieved from https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.hamline.edu/stable/1002279
- Schak O., Metzger I., Bass J., McCann C., & English J. (2017). Developmental education challenges and strategies for reform. *U.S. Department of Education*.

 Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/opepd/education-strategies.pdf
- Smith, K. (2006). In defense of the five-paragraph essay. *English Journal*, 95(4), 16-17. Retrieved from
 - http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=keh&AN=20411320&site=ehost-live

- Sreckovic, M., Common, E. A., Knowles, M. M., & Lane, K. L. (2014). A review of self-regulated strategy development for writing for students with EBD.

 **Behavioral Disorders*, 39(2), 56-77. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=96222792&site=ehost-live
- Stanton, B. (2018). *Humans of New York*. Retrieved from www.humansofnewyork.com

 The NGA Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief State School

 Officers (CCSSO). (2010). *Preparing America's Students for Success*. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/
- The Writing Lab, The OWL at Purdue, & Purdue University. (1995-2018). *Expository Essays*.

 Retrieved from https://owl.english.purdue.edu/owl/resource/685/2/
- What Works Clearinghouse. (2017). WWC Intervention Report. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Docs/InterventionReports/wwc srsd 111417.pdf
- Wormeli, R. (2014). Motivating young adolescents. *Educational Leadership*, 72(1), 26-31. Retrieved from

http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.hamline.edu:2048/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1038882&site=ehost-live

Appendix A

Scope and Sequence of Lesson Plans

Table 1			
Scope and	Seauence	of Lesson	Plans

Lesson	Objectives SWBAT = Students will be able to	SRSD Phase	
Day 1	*Discuss their own relationship with writing *Discuss the relevance of writing skills in today's world *Begin learning the writing strategies POW + TREE	Developing Background Knowledge	
Day 2	*Begin memorizing POW+ TRE *Analyze several expository essays looking for parts	Developing Background Knowledge	
Day 3	*Understand and discuss the essay prompt *Analyze example writing based on essay prompt	Discuss It	
Day 4	*Review and memorize POW + TREE *Observe, analyze, and discuss teacher modelling of the strategy *Begin coming up with their own self-reinforcements.	Model It / Memorize It	
Day 5	*Brainstorm ideas for their own essays *Practice using their individual self-reinforcements *Complete a graphic organizer based on their own ideas and the POW + TREE strategy	Support It	
Day 6	*Observe, analyze, and discuss teacher modelling of using the graphic organizer to begin writing *Begin writing their essays using their self-reinforcements and graphic organizers, utilizing teacher support as needed	Support It	
Day 7 & moving forward	*Practice and review skills with a variety of writing assignments throughout the year *Decrease scaffolding and support as needed	Independent Performance	

Appendix B

Lesson Plans and Supporting Documents

Lesson: Day 1

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information

Objectives	SRSD Phase
1	Developing Background Knowledge

Materials.

- Digital class copy of sections of *Coming into Language* by Jimmy Santiago Baca (1991) (to be projected on a SmartBoard or similar device for class viewing)
- Student copies of POW + TREE Handout for distribution

Procedures:

- 1. Begin by asking students to discuss with their partners (Think-Pair-Share) the following two questions:
 - Why it is important to learn how to write well? In other words, where and when will you use writing skills in your life?
 - How do you feel about writing? Confident? Worried? Excited? Anxious?
- 2. After each question, encourage volunteers to share with the class. Make a list on the board of reasons students should learn how to write well. Be sure the list includes high school, college, applications, resumes, emails, etc.
- 3. Share sections of Jimmy Santiago Baca's (1991) *Coming into Language* essay with the class.
 - Highlight Baca's life story, and how he credits language with giving him power and voice in a way he never felt before.
 - O Discuss ways that students too have more power and voice because of their ability to read and write (Ex: writing to the principal to change a school policy, writing to

a legislator to protest an unfair law, understanding the news and what's going on in the world, etc.)

- 4. Give each student a POW + TREE Mnemonic Chart for their binders.
 - Explain each part of the mnemonic. Explain that the TREE Mnemonic is meant to help students remember all of the parts that go into a quality body paragraph.
 - The end goal is that students will write a 5 paragraph essay, including 3 of these body paragraphs. The other two paragraphs will be an introduction and a conclusion.
- 5. Have students work with their partners to practice with the mnemonics:
 - POW: Have students practice coming up with ideas to answer the following prompts. Ask students to aim for three ideas per prompt. They can share orally with their partners:
 - Describe a family celebration that has special meaning for you. (For example, Christmas is special to my family because 1) We cook a specific meal, 2) I see relatives I do not normally see, and 3) I get to open presents.)
 - Describe a sport you like and why you like it.
 - Explain how different modern life would be without computers. (Prompts from Learning Express Writing Team, 2003).
 - Students can spend remaining class time working with their partner to begin memorizing the parts of POW + TREE and what the acronyms stand for. They will need to have these mnemonics memorized later in the week.

POW + TREE Mnemonic Chart

POW

Pick my idea.

Organize my notes.

Write and say more.

TREE

Topic Sentence

Reasons (3 or more)

Explain Reasons

Ending

Tell what you believe! Why do I believe this?

Will my readers believe this?

Say more about each reason.

Wrap it up right!

Lesson: Day 2

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information

Objectives	SRSD Phase
*SWBAT continue discussing & work toward memorizing the writing strategies POW + TREE. *SWBAT analyze several expository essays looking for parts.	Developing Background Knowledge

Materials:

- Extra copies of POW + TREE Handout, for absent students or students who lost their copy.
- Copies of Example 1, Example 2, Example 3, and Example 4 for each student (on paper or digitally)
- o Digital copies of all 4 Examples to be projected on SmartBoard

Procedures:

- 1. Students complete a Think-Pair Share:
 - What do the mnemonics POW + TREE stand for?
 - When do we use these mnemonics?

Work as class until the students have successfully pieced together the meaning. Have students then get out their POW + TREE Handout.

- 2. Explain that, today, students will be looking at example essays and determining whether or not all essay parts are included.
 - Class Example: Project Example 1 on the SmartBoard. Read the example aloud. Students should also have the example in front of them.
 - Identify the thesis statement (from previous review lesson). Identify the topic sentence, reasons, explanations, and ending sentence (TREE) for each body paragraph. Be sure to note the conclusion paragraph, even though they are not working with that one.
 - Have students highlight or mark the text to distinguish the parts from each other. Determine whether all necessary parts are in the essay.
 - Ask students where or how the author could have made the essay stronger.
 - **Partner Example**: Students should work to identify and mark the thesis statement, as well as the topic sentence, reasons, explanations, and ending sentence for each body paragraph in Example 2.
 - Partner Example: Do the same with Example 3

• **Individual Example**: Time permitting, have students analyze and mark-up Example 4 individually.

<u>NOTE</u>: Following each partner or individual analysis, have a class discussion and demonstration to be sure students are correctly identifying the parts.

3. Any extra time can be used to review the POW + TREE mnemonic. Explain that students will need to have this mnemonic memorized in two days.

Imagine walking into a classroom full of four year olds. You see a mountain of glitter on the floor, more glitter flying at your face like you're in a sparkly snowstorm, and the little boy in the blue shirt is eating it like fun dip! You may be wondering, "When would that ever happen?" Unfortunately, that happened to me just last Sunday. Three things people might not know about me are I teach kids how to read and write Hebrew, I was born in Hungary, and I love playing volleyball.

First, I volunteer at Sunday school and teach four and five-year-olds how to read and write Hebrew. I can't say that I haven't walked in and seen them eating the glitter that was meant for our macaroni art project, but I can say it's a lot of fun. The more I hang out with kindergarteners, the more I realize how boring teenagers are. I also tutor them individually, that way I can focus on each kid and make sure the glitter stays away. I volunteer for about three hours on Sundays, and it's often the best time of my week.

Next, I was born in the small country of Hungary. Both my parents were born in Hungary too. I can also speak partial Hungarian(like basic sentences). Mostly my entire family lives in Hungary so it's very helpful to be able to speak Hungarian. Reading is a bit more of a struggle as it's hard to constantly switch between English and Hungarian. I'm glad to have this experience, since it's cool to be able to understand a different language.

Finally, I love playing volleyball. Volleyball is a very fun sport to play; watching it is boring, but playing volleyball is fun. The rush of hitting the ball over the net is amazing; it makes you have more confidence. It is also a fairly easy sport to learn how to play. Learning the basics(sets and bumps) is not that difficult or hard to do once you get the hang of it.

In summary, I have shared that I teach kids how to read and write Hebrew, I was born in Hungary, and I love playing volleyball. I wouldn't trade these three things for anything in the world. I'm glad that my classmates will now know a little bit more about me!

Have you ever had to go or move to a place you did not want to go? Well that happened to me a few years back. I came home and saw my family's clothes packed. At that moment I knew I was moving.

First, people don't know that I've lived in Chicago, IL. I lived there for about one in a half years but I go there a lot currently and before I moved. My favorite color back then was green. Moving was a huge change. The people were a bit different but school was really different. My school called South Loop was behind in teaching. When I got here, I had a hard time keeping up. I think I'm getting the hang of it now though.

In addition, I am a huge pet lover. I have had a total of 9 pets in my life. I have had 2 fish that died of age, 1 bird that flew away, 1 bunny that also died of age, 4 baby bunnies that couldn't survive without their mother, and now we have a cat. It took me years to convince my mom to get me a cat and finally she got fed up of my complains and got me one. My brother (who is 21 years old) moved out for 2 years and he has 3 cats and a lizard; I think this is totally unfair!

Finally, I love the sport of basketball. Being able to run up and down the court dribbling, shooting, and passing to my friends is a lot of fun. The pressure of trying to make quick decisions is nerve-wracking and exciting at the same time. I also love traveling to different cities with my team; it is always so exciting when we get to do other activities outside of basketball together. Basketball is definitely my favorite sport.

Three things people may not know about me is that I've lived in Chicago, I am a huge pet lover, and I love playing basketball. THE END!!!

Do you like going outside? I don't. Three things people might not know about me are that I am a Marvel fan, my life goals, and that I don't really like being outside.

First something not many people may know are some of my life goals and why. The first one would probably have to be to stop thinking so negative, because I think it'll make a big difference. Another life goal would be to stop being so insecure about myself. This would most likely be the hardest one for maybe reasons. I think too much about it and what other people think other then would I think. I would really like this to happen so I can feel better about myself and not so stressed all the time.

Also, I am a Marvel fan! I have to admit, I am a nerd! Especially when it comes to Marvel or superheros. My dad grew up being a nerd, so I guess I take it from him. I am pretty sure I even like Marvel more than my two little brothers, and they like Marvel a lot! The way I got into Marvel was when we watched "Guardians of the Galaxy" as a family. After I saw that, I told my dad that I want to see all the new Marvel movies with him. Recently, I saw "Thor Ragnarok" with my family, and it was AWESOME!!! I love Marvel!

Finally, people might not know that I don't really like going outside. I'm more of an indoor person than an outdoor person. When my brother and I go outside, my brother always wants to play catch. But whenever I have to throw the ball, I would hit my brother in the face or someplace random on his body. I really don't like to play sports. I prefer staying inside just listening to music or playing computer games.

In summary, I have life goals, I am a Marvel fan, and I don't like going outside. I might change more as I get older, but I think these things will stay the same. When we get to know each other a little bit better, everyone's lives might improve.

"Don't judge a book by the chapter you walked in on." People don't know much about me especially these three things. If you didn't know, I like writing, I have lots of hobbies, and Christmas is my favorite holiday.

First, I absolutely enjoy writing, yes I love writing. I can write for hours even though my hand gets tired and I run out of ideas on what to write. Writing helps with my feelings. I have a writing journal where I just write whatever I feel. Even though my hand tends to hurt writing is a way to express myself. This will sound dumb but writing makes me feel safe. My thoughts and I alone.

Second, some of my hobbies. One of my hobbies is mountain biking. One time I did a 25 mile race with my dad and I thought it was going to be easy! Boy was I wrong. I wanted to puke halfway through, but with some encouragement I powered through and also managed to place 33 place out of 100 people! I thought that was pretty cool. Another one of my hobbies is painting, just after finishing one of my biggest paintings yet I reach out to stretch and "bump" and I watch as the white paint flows all over the painting because I had forgotten to close it. I had to paint most of it again, goes to show that you shouldn't celebrate too quick!

Last, but not least, Christmas is my favorite holiday. Christmas is my favorite holiday because you get a bunch of presents. Last year I got a TV for christmas. Most of the times we've celebrated christmas is when we have family get togethers at multiple house if not then one. Last year we went to are grandpa & grandma's for a family get together.

In conclusion, I love to write, I have lots of hobbies, and Christmas is my favorite holiday. I'm really excited to share these things about me with my readers. I hope you have stuff you like to do too!

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information

Objectives	SRSD Phase
*SWBAT understand and discuss the essay prompt. *SWBAT analyze example writing based on essay prompt.	Discuss It

Materials:

• Humans of New York Handout

Note: This handout can be created by going to http://www.humansofnewyork.com/ and selecting different profiles for students to read. These profiles typically consist of a picture and a brief reflection on life detailed by that person. As a middle school teacher, I am discerning with the stories I put on my handout, as some stories are more raw and emotional than I am comfortable showing my students. I try to select a variety of stories, ones that I think my students will connect with, and I am sure to select a mix of child, teen, and adult profiles.

- Drawing Connections Handout
- o Pre-organized groups, if necessary

- 1. Think-Pair-Share: Students should review the POW + TREE mnemonic. Ask if anyone has it memorized yet. Be excited and celebratory if anyone does have it memorized. They must have it memorized by tomorrow.
- 2. Explain that students will use POW + TREE in the next few days to create a 5 paragraph essay that responds to the prompt: *Tell me three things people might not know about you*. Suggest that writing can be a way of revealing parts of ourselves to the world. Today, students will read stories of people from the blog, Humans of New York. Alleviate student nerves by ensuring that, although some of the stories on the blog are personal, students will not be required to share anything overly personal in their own writing.
- 3. Pass out Humans of New York Handout & Drawing Connections Handout. In groups of four, students should:
 - Read through all of the profiles.

- Based on similarities in life experiences they read about, groups should create categories on the Drawing Connections Handout to organize the profiles and stories. For example, one category could be *Parents were absent during childhood*.
- Groups should be prepared to share at least one category with the class.
- 4. Bring the class back together. Ask for each group to share one category with the class. Write the categories up on the board.
- 5. Think-Pair-Share with partner:
 - Which story **resonates** with you most?
 - Explain that resonating doesn't have to mean you had the same life experience. It could just be a story that really made you think, feel, etc. Scroll through the Humans of New York stories, asking students to raise their hand when you say the one that they resonated with most.
- 6. Draw a connection once again between the activity and the writing piece students will be completing: *Tell me three things people might not know about you*. Once again, student samples do not need to be overly personal.
- 7. For remaining class time, students should continue memorizing POW + TREE. These should be memorized for tomorrow's class.

Group Member Names:						
<u>Directions</u> : Read and examine the profiles given to you. Analyze the profiles to search for similarities between people. Then, group people together based on similar life experiences. List the categories and the people below.						
Category #1	Category #2	Category #3				
Category #4		Category #5				

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

- a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information
- b. Develop the topic with relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples
- f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation presented.

Objectives	SRSD Phase
*SWBAT review and memorize POW + TREE. *SWBAT observe, analyze, and discuss teacher modelling of the strategy. *SWBAT begin coming up with their own self-reinforcements.	Model It / Memorize It

Materials:

- Self-Reinforcement Sheet
- Digital POW + TREE Graphic Organizer to use on the SmartBoard

- 1. Begin by asking students to recite the memorized mnemonics POW + TREE. Have students do so in front of the class. Be celebratory. Insist that anyone who does not have it memorized do so tonight.
- 2. Explain that today, students will be watching the teacher model using POW + TREE to create her own essay. Students should watch and listen carefully. Ask students to pay close attention to what the teacher says and does when she gets stuck.
- 3. Get out POW + TREE Graphic Organizer. Use this to model planning your essay. Explain that students will receive this same graphic organizer tomorrow. See script for an example model.
- 4. After modelling, ask students to share the following with their partner:
 - What kind of things did I (the teacher) say to myself when I got stuck?
 - What was the most challenging part of writing my outline for me?
 - What do you think will be the most challenging part for you?
- 5. Ask students to think about times in life that are frustrating. Ask them to brainstorm strategies for what they do when they get frustrated. Share as a class. Make a list on the board. (For example, students might include: take a deep breath, count to 10, talk to a friend / family member, think and talk positively to myself, take a break, take a walk,

- etc.) Explain that writing, like all academic tasks, can be frustrating, but working through the frustration is rewarding and grows us as humans and students.
- 6. Hand out Self-Reinforcements Sheet. Explain that students will be drafting helpful statements to themselves for each part of the writing process. Give examples. Students should then fill out the Self-Reinforcements sheet on their own.

Example Modelling Script

Self-talk that models self-regulation ideas and/or strategies are written in italics.

Okay. So the first thing I need to do is begin with POW. P- Pick my idea. This is sometimes the trickiest part. Have you guys ever sat and stared at a blank piece of paper and have no idea where to begin? Yeah, me too. Sometimes that's the hardest part for me, but these are all things that have to do with me, so I just have to brainstorm about that a little bit. O- Organize my notes- this graphic organizer is going to help me do that. And W- Write a bit more. That's where my explanations are going to come in handy.

So the prompt says Tell me three things people might not know about you. I'm going to start by brainstorming my three things, so those will be my three topic sentences. Well, I know I want to pick things that are important to me, and I want to pick things that I can say a lot about. I have to write a whole body paragraph about each thing, and I know that'll be tricky if I don't have a lot to say about one of the things I pick.

Okay, so what do I like to do? I like to play soccer. I played soccer a lot actually growing up. I was on teams and things, so I think I have a lot to say about that one. So I'm going to start by writing that on my Graphic Organizer as my first Topic Sentence. Topic Sentence- that's the T in TREE.

TS (Topic Sentence) 1: I like to play soccer.

There's one. Okay, so two more. Hmmm.... Well, I'm thinking about other things people might not know about me.

Boy, I'm kind of stuck. I don't know what to write about. Okay, but I'm not going to panic. I'm just in the brainstorming stage, so just take a deep breath. I'm going to think about stuff I've done in the past that's been really fun or exciting, since I probably can write a lot about that.

I've got something! So not everyone knows that I went to Ireland for a study abroad trip when I was in college. That was really fun and exciting, and I have a lot of stuff I could say about that trip. There's my second topic sentence.

TS2: I lived in Ireland for five months.

Last one. I'm almost there. Hmmm. Maybe I'll think about some of my favorites. Those are usually easy to talk about. Favorite food... spaghetti, favorite holiday... Christmas, favorite movie, favorite TV show... Hmm... You know, I think I could write the most about my favorite food.

TS3: My favorite food is spaghetti.

Nice! So the big topics are taken care of. Okay, now I have to think about reasons for each one, which are really just details. That's the R- Reasons and the E- Explanation in TREE. When I'm trying to come up with details, I like to ask myself the 5 W's: Who? What? When? Where? Why? I'll show you what I mean.

My first body paragraph is about soccer. Let me think about that. Who did I play with? Well, I played travelling soccer in middle school, and I played with a recreation league in high school. I made a lot of friends on both teams. I really didn't like my coach in middle school, but I loved my high school coach. That answers the who, what, and when. Although the what-- I could add my position. I played right midfield most. That was my position. I hated and was terrified of playing goalie. Where? I played soccer in Sioux Falls and Georgia, which is where I lived in middle and high school. Why? I loved being part of a team, making friends, and the thrill of scoring a goal or making a great play. It was exhilarating. I miss it now.

I think I have enough. Here we go; I'm just going to organize the information on my graphic organizer now. I don't have to write in complete sentences since this is an outline, but I do want to have enough information that I know what I was talking about later on.

A. TS1: I like to play soccer.

- a. R1 (reason 1): Played in middle and high school
 - Explanation: Didn't like middle school coach (He was an ex-army sergeant, and he scared me). Loved high school coach.
- b. R2: Made lots of friends
 - i. Explanation: Both times, played with people from school. Great way to meet people and make friends to hang out with.
- c. R3: I miss it now.
 - Explanation: Never forget the thrill of scoring a goal or making a great pass. Loved celebrating with the team afterward.

So the only thing I still have for this body paragraph is my E- Ending, Wrap it Up sentence. I want something that relates to my topic, but still kind of makes it clear that I'm done talking about that thing. Let's see.

End (Wrap it Up): I know there are adult soccer leagues, so I might investigate those one day!

There, that works. I don't know if I love that last sentence, but I can always come back and fix it later, if I think of something better. It's better to write something down and come back then to let it get me stuck.

Next body paragraph. Boy, this is a lot of work. That's okay though. I have time, so I don't want to rush. And if I plan it out now, it'll make the writing part easier.

My second body paragraph is about Ireland. Here we go-- what sticks out about that trip? Well, I went there with friends from college, and I made friends on the trip too. I got to travel a bunch

while I was there. My favorite place I went while travelling in Europe was the Czech Republic. It was so beautiful—it looked like a fairytale. Ireland was so green, just like people envision. It does rain all the time; I didn't love that part. I held a lamb while I was there, and I went to all sorts of castles, so that was cool. I also was able to walk a lot of places instead of driving, and I liked that. Okay, I think I have enough to start.

- B. TS2: I lived in Ireland for 5 months.
 - a. R1: I studied abroad there.
 - i. Explanation: Went with college friends, but also met people. Good friends from Ohio and Alaska.
 - b. R2: I travelled in Europe while there.
 - i. Explanation: Favorite place→ Czech Republic. So beautiful-- looked like a fairytale.
 - c. R3: Did lots of fun things.
 - i. Explanation: Memories that stick out-- holding a lamb and climbing different castles.

Okay, I'm at the last sentence again. My least favorite part, because it's kind of tricky to think of. I think of it as one final thought... what's the last thing I want people to think about?

End (Wrap it Up): Living in a foreign country was exciting, but challenging, and I think I grew as a person because of it.

Awesome! Almost there. Last full body paragraph! This one is on spaghetti. I was careful with this one, because sometimes topics like favorite food, you don't really have enough to say. But I think I do with this one because it's associated with some good memories for me. When I first think of loving spaghetti, I think about what kind I like the most. I love spaghetti with meatballs, or really any kind of spaghetti with a tomato sauce, especially spicy sauce.

Spaghetti has kind of a special meaning for me because my grandpa was Italian. He passed away when I was little, but my memory of him always reminds me of those old-school Italian guys, and that makes me feel happy, to think about him. My mom always does the cooking in my house, especially when I was growing up, but the one time my dad would cook, his specialty, so to speak, was to make this meatball spaghetti. So that makes me think happy things too, because it was always a treat to eat Dad's spaghetti. He also would play this Italian music every time he made it and dance around the kitchen, and I loved that growing up. The smell too, of spaghetti.... Mmmm! Okay, I think I have enough.

- C. TS3: My favorite food is spaghetti.
 - a. R1: Favorite is spaghetti with meatballs
 - i. Explanation: Love tomato sauce, the spicier the better.
 - b. R2: Spaghetti reminds me of my Grandpa.
 - i. Explanation: Old school Italian guy, passed away when I was little.
 - c. R3: Dad made spaghetti as his "specialty" dish

i. Explanation: House would smell so good. He'd play Italian music and dance. I loved it.

End (Wrap it Up): Spaghetti reminds me of special memories with my family, and it's delicious, so it's a win-win in my book!

Hey! It was a lot easier coming up with that last sentence. I'm getting the hang of this!

Yes! I've got my three body paragraphs outlined now. Awesome. The last few things then are just a lot of repeating, kind of the "fluff" stuff, so to speak. My thesis statement is easy to write, because I've done the hard work of thinking of stuff already. All I have to do is make sure my three points are in order.

Thesis Statement: People might not know that I like to play soccer, I lived in Ireland for five months, and my favorite food is spaghetti.

Easy! Next is my Summary Statement sentence. So that's just like the thesis, but in different words. It's going to be the first sentence in my conclusion paragraph. How can I rephrase it, but keep my points the same? This is where I have to be a little bit of a wordsmith. Hm.... here we go.

Summary Statement: It might surprise my students to learn that I like to play soccer, I lived in Ireland for five months, and my favorite food is spaghetti.

Okay, now my least favorite part of this whole thing. I hate coming up with my first and last sentence. It's a lot easier to do now, though, I think, that I know what my essay will be about. I think I get nervous because I've gotten used to staring at a blank sheet of paper, and that always makes me nervous. I can do this though, I know it. I've done the hard work, so I've just got to take a deep breath and feel confident. Okay. First sentence. I want to make people keep reading, and it should connect somehow to what I'm going to talk about. Okay, how about this?

Introductory Sentence: We all have personal characteristics that other people might not know about us. When we let people get to know us, though, we build connections and share our lives with those around us.

Not bad! And final sentence. This will be the last sentence in my entire essay.

Concluding Sentence: When people get to know each other better, they might find similarities with people they considered very different from themselves.

Awesome! I've got a good outline here, so my essay should be pretty easy to write. Excellent!

Pick my idea

POW + TREE Graphic Organizer Organize my notes Write and say more

Outline

Introduction Paragraph	
Hook:	
Thesis Statement (in order!):	
TREE- Body Paragraphs	
Topic Sentence 1:	
Reason 1 + Explanation:	
Reason 2 + Explanation:	
Reason 3 + Explanation:	
Ending Sentence 1:	
Topic Sentence 2:	
Passon 1 + Evaluation:	

Reason 2 + Explanation:
Reason 3 + Explanation:
Ending Sentence 2:
Topic Sentence 3:
Reason 1 + Explanation:
Reason 2 + Explanation:
Reason 3 + Explanation:
Ending Sentence 3:
Conclusion Paragraph Summary Statement:
Clincher Statement:

Self-Reinforcement Sheet

As I begin, I am most concerned/anxious about					
When I get frustrated, I can	(list at least 3 strategies / stateme	ents)			
While writing, I should remo	ember to				
	ins three points, listed in order o	-			
#1 Topic Sentence 3 Reasons Explanations Ending Sentence	#2Topic Sentence3 ReasonsExplanationsEnding Sentence	#3 Topic Sentence 3 Reasons Explanations Ending Sentence			
Summary statement lists	ocated in the first sentence of the s three points in order ifferent than Thesis statement	conclusion paragraph			

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

- a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information
- b. Develop the topic with relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples
- f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation presented.

Objectives	SRSD Phase
*SWBAT brainstorm ideas for their own essays. *SWBAT practice using their individual self-reinforcements *SWBAT complete a graphic organizer based on their own ideas and the POW + TREE strategy.	Support It

Materials:

- POW + TREE Graphic Organizer
- Student Self-Reinforcements (created yesterday)

- 1. Think-Pair-Share (Review from yesterday):
 - Yesterday, you watched me plan an essay of my own. What did I really struggle with? How did I help myself when I got stuck?
 - Get out your Self-Reinforcements sheet. Share with a partner. Which statement and/or strategy do you think will help you most when you get stuck?
- 2. Script: Today, you guys are going to be planning your own essays. We are going to work together, and we are going to help each other when someone gets stuck. Remind me, what does the P in POW stand for? Right, Pick your idea. Start by talking to your partner. Think about things you really enjoy or could talk about for awhile. What ideas do you have for answering the prompt: *Tell me three things people might not know about you?*
- 3. Encourage students to fill out the POW + TREE graphic organizer. They can work with their partners as they do so, helping each other, but their ideas should be their own. Circle the room as they work, helping students who get stuck. When a student gets stuck, encourage them first to use their Self-Reinforcements, and remind them of the strategies POW + TREE. Anyone who does not finish the graphic organizer in class should strive to finish it before class tomorrow.

Standard 7.7.2.2: Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

- c. Use appropriate transitions to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts.
- d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
- e. Establish and maintain a formal style

Objectives	SRSD Phase
*SWBAT observe, analyze, and discuss teacher modelling of using the graphic organizer to begin writing. *SWBAT begin writing their essays using their self-reinforcements and graphic organizers, utilizing teacher support as needed.	Support It

Materials:

- Copy of digital Graphic Organizer from Lesson 4
- Notebook paper for students

- 1. Ask students to get out their completed POW + TREE Graphic Organizer. Have them share the finished versions with their partner.
- 2. Today, the teacher will model how to take the ideas on the Graphic Organizer and put them into essay form. Students should watch carefully and listen. Ask them to observe, once again, how the teacher handles it when she gets stuck. Also, ask them to figure out how the essay and the Graphic Organizer are different.
- 3. Model taking the ideas from the Graphic Organizer and put them into essay form. The teacher should emphasize the following:
 - Addition of transition words like First, Second, Finally, etc. as you move from idea to idea
 - The use of complete sentences, as opposed to the phrases used in the Graphic Organizer
 - The ease of writing, now that the hard thinking has been completed in the Graphic Organizer
 - The use of self-reinforcements when the teacher gets stuck
- 4. Think-Pair-Share: After modelling, ask students to discuss what they observed.
 - What did the teacher say when she got stuck?
 - How did the essay differ from the Graphic Organizer?

- How do they feel getting started with their essay? Confident? Worried?
- 5. Students should begin writing their essays. Their Graphic Organizer, Self-Reinforcement sheet, and notebook paper should all be on their desk. The atmosphere should be quiet, to allow students the concentration to work effectively. If they get stuck, encourage them to use their Self-Reinforcements first, then ask a partner for help, then raise their hand. The teacher should circle the room and help as needed.

After completion of the lesson series:

- Allow more writing time in class, as needed
- Students should complete a self-review and peer-review of their papers. Editors should focus primarily on identifying the inclusion of various essay parts in the paper.
- Students should be assessed via the Assessment Rubric.
- Students should complete the Writing Skills Survey.
- Use POW + TREE and versions of the self-reinforcements throughout the year. If desired, have students graph and chart their writing growth over the course of the year.

Appendix C
Assessment Rubric

Category	1	2	3	4
Introduction	Thesis statement and hook are missing.	Essay may be missing either the hook OR the thesis statement.	Hook is included, but may be weak OR main points are listed in the thesis statement, but are out of order.	Introduction contains a creative and intriguing hook. Thesis statement contains three points in the CORRECT order they are to be discussed.
Body Paragraphs	Essay does not contain three main points.	Essay contains 3 main points but may not have enough reasons and explanation.	Essay contains 3 main points and reasons for each main point, but may not have enough explanation.	Essay contains 3 main points, sufficient reasons, and explanations for each main point.
Conclusion	Conclusion is missing both a summary statement and a clincher statement.	Conclusion is missing either a clincher statement OR a summary statement.	Essay contains a summary statement and clincher statement. Summary statement may be out of order.	Essay contains a summary statement in which 3 points are listed IN ORDER. Should be different than thesis statement. Conclusion also contains a clincher statement.
Grammar	Essay has numerous grammatical errors that make reading and understanding difficult.	Essay shows some evidence of proofreading , but contains numerous grammatical mistakes.	Essay shows evidence of proofreading, but compound sentences are incorrectly written.	Essay shows clear attention to grammar. Includes correctly written compound sentences.

_____ Student used strategies POW + TREE while writing

_____ Student used self-statements and coping skills when/if frustrated

Appendix D

Writing Skills Survey

Directions :	On a scale	of 1 - 5, pl	ease expr	ess you	comfort	level wi	ith the fol	lowing ta	sks re	lated
to writing.										

to writing.						
1- not confident at all		3- sc	omewhat confident	5- very confident		
I can brains	torm usa	able ide	eas for a	5 parag	graph essay.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
I can write a	a clear tl	hesis st	atement	that giv	ves my reader a preview o	f the ideas to follow.
	1	2	3	4	5	
I can write a	a thorou	gh bod	y paragr	aph tha	t contains support and det	ails for the main point.
	1	2	3	4	5	
I know strat	egies fo	r copin	g when	I am fru	ustrated with a writing task	k.
	1	2	3	4	5	
I can work t	hrough	frustrat	tion and	be succ	cessful with my writing.	
	1	2	3	4	5	